

Unemployment Compensation (UC): Issues Related to Drug Testing

Katelin P. Isaacs Specialist in Income Security

Julie M. Whittaker Specialist in Income Security

David H. Carpenter Legislative Attorney

Jon O. Shimabukuro Legislative Attorney

Updated November 4, 2019

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R45889



Unemployment Compensation (UC): Issues Related to Drug Testing

Recent interest in Unemployment Compensation (UC) drug testing has grown at both the federal and state levels. The policy interest in mandatory drug testing of individuals who are applying for or receiving UC benefits parallels two larger policy trends. First, some state legislatures have considered drug testing individuals receiving public assistance benefits. While UC is generally considered social insurance (rather than public assistance), the concept of drug testing UC recipients (who are receiving state-financed benefits from a program authorized under state laws) could be interpreted as a potential extension of this state-level interest. Second, over recent years, Congress has considered issues related to UC program integrity, including drug testing, which may be viewed as addressing UC program integrity concerns.

Under the current interpretation of federal law, and subject to specific exceptions, the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) requires states to determine entitlement to benefits under their UC programs based only on facts or causes related to the individual's state of unemployment. Under this reasoning, individuals may be disqualified for UC benefits if they lost their previous job because of illegal drug use. Until recently, the prospective drug testing of UC applicants or beneficiaries has been generally prohibited. However, P.L. 112-96 expanded the breadth of allowable UC drug testing to include prospective drug testing based upon job searches for suitable work in an occupation that regularly conducts drug testing. On October 4, 2019, DOL issued a new final rule on this type of prospective testing after a previous, promulgated rule was repealed using the Congressional Review Act. This new final rule is effective November 4, 2019.

Stakeholders have made a variety of arguments for and against expanded UC drug testing. Proponents of prospective drug testing cite not only program integrity concerns, but also the importance of job readiness for UC claimants as well as state discretion in matters of UC eligibility and administration. Opponents of the prospective drug testing of UC claimants argue that it would impose additional costs and undermine the fundamental goals of the UC program, which include the timely provision of income replacement to individuals who lost a job through no fault of their own. Some stakeholders also expressed concern that expanded UC drug testing could create barriers to UC benefit receipt among eligible individuals and discourage UC claims filing. Stakeholders have also raised at least two legal concerns with the new final UC drug testing rule: (1) some commenters have argued that the new final rule may violate the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and (2) some commenters have argued that the new final rule improperly delegates authority to the states to identify occupations that regularly conduct drug testing. Other policy issues to consider related to expanding UC drug testing include administrative concerns, such as state establishment of a drug testing program for UC claimants as well as the potential provision of and funding for drug treatment services.

For a shorter summary of recent events related to UC drug testing, see CRS Insight IN10909, *Recent Legislative and Regulatory Developments in States' Ability to Drug Test Unemployment Compensation Applicants and Beneficiaries*. For additional information on the federal-state UC system generally, see CRS Report RL33362, *Unemployment Insurance: Programs and Benefits*. For additional insights on reissuing a rule that had been repealed under the Congressional Review Act, see CRS Insight IN10996, *Reissued Labor Department Rule Tests Congressional Review Act Ban on Promulgating "Substantially the Same" Rules*.

SUMMARY

R45889

November 4, 2019

Katelin P. Isaacs Specialist in Income Security -redacted-@crs.loc.gov

Julie M. Whittaker Specialist in Income Security -redacted-@crs.loc.gov

David H. Carpenter Legislative Attorney -redacted-@crs.loc.gov

Jon O. Shimabukuro Legislative Attorney -redacted-@crs.loc.gov

For a copy of the full report, please call 7-.... or visit www.crs.gov.

Contents

| Federal-State UC Program and Drug Testing | 1 |
|---|---|
| UC Eligibility and Disqualification | 3 |
| Disqualification for Unemployment Due to Illegal Drug Use | |
| UC Drug Testing: Recent Developments | 5 |
| New Allowable Drug Testing Under P.L. 112-96 | 5 |
| 2014 DOL Program Guidance: State Drug Testing Based upon Losing | |
| Employment Due to Illegal Use of Controlled Substances | 5 |
| 2016 DOL Rule: State Drug Testing Based upon Job Search in an Occupation that | |
| Regularly Conducts Drug Testing (Repealed) | 5 |
| Disapproval of 2016 DOL Rule Using Congressional Review Act | 5 |
| 2019 DOL Reissued Rule | 7 |
| UC Drug Testing: Arguments For and Against |) |
| Arguments in Favor of Expanded UC Drug Testing11 | 1 |
| Program Integrity11 | |
| Job Readiness | |
| State Flexibility | 2 |
| Arguments Against Expanded UC Drug Testing12 | 2 |
| Increased Administrative Costs | 2 |
| Conflicts with Fundamental Goals of UC Program | |
| Potential Legal Concerns | |
| Constitutional Considerations in Drug Testing UC Beneficiaries14 | 4 |
| Fourth Amendment Overview14 | 4 |
| Supreme Court Drug Testing Precedent | 7 |
| Lower Court Cases Involving TANF Drug Testing 19 | 9 |
| Applicability of Case Law to UC Drug Testing |) |
| Subdelegation of DOL's Authority | 4 |
| UC Drug Testing: Administrative Considerations | 5 |
| Establishing a State Drug Testing Program | 5 |
| Funding a State Drug Testing Program | 7 |
| States with New Drug Testing Laws Under P.L. 112-96 | |
| Providing Drug and Alcohol Treatment Services | 7 |
| Funding Drug Treatment Services for UC Claimants | 3 |

Tables

| Table 1. States with Drug and/or Alcohol Provisions in Their UC Programs | . 3 |
|--|-----|
| Table 2. Comparison of Occupations Listed Under 20 C.F.R. Section 620.3 in DOL's | |
| 2016 Rule and 2019 Reissued Rule | . 9 |

Appendixes

| Appendix A. Additional Recent Legislative Approaches to UC Drug Testing | 29 |
|---|----|
| Appendix B. Enacted State UC Laws Subsequent to P.L. 112-96 | 31 |

Contacts

| Author Contact | Information | |
|----------------|-------------|--|
|----------------|-------------|--|

Federal-State UC Program and Drug Testing

The joint federal-state Unemployment Compensation (UC) program, created by the Social Security Act of 1935, provides unemployment benefits to eligible individuals who become involuntarily unemployed and meet state-established eligibility rules. Federal laws and regulations provide some broad guidelines on UC benefit coverage, eligibility, and benefit determination. However, state laws determine the specific parameters, resulting in essentially 53 different UC programs.¹ States administer UC benefits with oversight from the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL).²

The main objectives of UC are to (1) offer workers income maintenance during periods of unemployment due to lack of work, providing partial wage replacement as an entitlement; (2) help maintain purchasing power and to stabilize the economy; and (3) help prevent dispersal of the employer's trained labor force, skill loss, and the breakdown of labor standards during temporary high levels of unemployment.³ The UC program attempts to meet these objectives in a number of ways. For example, individuals who receive UC are required to register with the Employment Service and to be able, available and searching for suitable work.

Under federal law, all states currently have the option to disqualify individuals for UC benefits if they lost their job because of illegal drug use. In addition, there has been recent and sustained congressional interest in prohibiting individuals who are engaged in unlawful use of controlled substances (whether or not such use was the cause of unemployment) from receiving UC benefits.⁴ In the 112th Congress, states were given the option to require drug testing for UC applicants under specific and limited circumstances.⁵ A portion of these circumstances required that DOL issue a rule listing occupations that regularly require drug testing. On October 4, 2019, the new rule was finalized after a previous, promulgated rule was repealed using the Congressional Review Act. This new final rule is effective November 4, 2019. Thus, after this date, nothing in federal UC law would prohibit states from drug testing UC applicants who are searching for employment solely in those occupations listed in this final rule.⁶

The issue of drug testing in the UC program may be viewed in the context of two larger policy trends. First, some state legislatures have expressed interest in drug testing individuals receiving

¹ The District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands are considered to be states under Unemployment Compensation (UC) law.

² For more information on UC, see CRS Report RL33362, Unemployment Insurance: Programs and Benefits.

³ U.S. Department of Labor (DOL), Bureau of Employment Security, General Administration Letter No. 305, "Major Objective of Federal Policy with Respect to the Federal-State Employment Security Program," April 25, 1965.

⁴ See the sections on "Drug Testing" in CRS Report R41662, Unemployment Insurance: Legislative Issues in the 112th Congress; CRS Report R42936, Unemployment Insurance: Legislative Issues in the 113th Congress; CRS Report R43993, Unemployment Insurance: Legislative Issues in the 114th Congress; and CRS Report R44836, Unemployment Insurance: Legislative Issues in the 114th Congress; and CRS Report R44836, Unemployment Insurance: Legislative Issues in the 114th Congress; and CRS Report R44836, Unemployment Insurance: Legislative Issues in the 114th Congress; and CRS Report R44836, Unemployment Insurance: Legislative Issues in the 114th Congress; and CRS Report R44836, Unemployment Insurance: Legislative Issues in the 115th Congress.

⁵ This UC drug testing provision (Section 2015) was part of a larger package of UC program integrity measures authorized under Title II, Subtitle A of P.L. 112-96 (the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, signed February 22, 2012).

⁶ The list of occupations that regularly conduct drug testing is available in 20 C.F.R. Part 620, Employment and Training Administration, Department of Labor, "Federal-State Unemployment Compensation Program; Establishing Appropriate Occupations for Drug Testing of Unemployment Compensation Applicants Under the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012," 84 *Federal Register* 53037-52, October 4, 2019, https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2019-10-04/pdf/2019-21227.pdf (hereinafter, *DOL 2019, Reissued Rule*).

public assistance benefits.⁷ Although UC is generally considered to be social insurance (rather than public assistance),⁸ drug testing UC beneficiaries could be interpreted as a potential extension of this state-level interest.⁹

Second, there has been sustained congressional interest in UC program integrity generally, and this has included drug testing certain applicants or beneficiaries.¹⁰ For instance, during the period from 2011 to 2015 Congress passed three laws (P.L. 112-40,¹¹ P.L. 112-96,¹² and P.L. 113-67¹³) that either added or clarified state administrative responsibilities to decrease UC benefit overpayments, and one of those laws (P.L. 112-96) also imposed new restrictions on UC eligibility.¹⁴ Furthermore, P.L. 112-96 clarified that drug testing may be included among UC program integrity measures to ensure that benefits are not distributed to individuals who are involved in illegal drug use, presuming that this behavior may impede prospects for future employment.

This report provides general background on issues related to UC benefits and illegal drug use; discusses recent developments related to the expansion of UC drug testing under state and federal laws as well as federal regulation; and analyzes selected policy considerations relevant to UC drug testing, including arguments for and against expanded drug testing, potential legal concerns, and administrative considerations.

⁷ See Appendix A-1 in CRS Report R42394, *Drug Testing and Crime-Related Restrictions in TANF, SNAP, and Housing Assistance*; also see National Conference of State Legislatures, "Drug Testing for Welfare Recipients and Public Assistance," March 24, 2017, http://www.ncsl.org/research/human-services/drug-testing-and-public-assistance.aspx.

⁸ See, for example, President Franklin Roosevelt's remarks at the signing of the Social Security Act at http://www.ssa.gov/history/fdrstmts.html#signing.

⁹ See, for example, Kansas Senate Bill 149 (2013-2014 Legislative Session), which explicitly authorizes the drug screening of applicants or recipients of cash assistance programs as well as the UC program (signed on April 16, 2013; effective July 1, 2013; available at http://www.kslegislature.org/li_2014/b2013_14/measures/sb149/).

¹⁰ Program integrity activities are defined by the Government Accountability Office (GAO) as "activities designed to prevent fraud, waste, and abuse of government resources." See, for example, GAO, "Program Integrity: Views on the Use of Commercial Data Services to Help Identify Fraud and Improper Payments," GAO-16-624, June 30, 2016, p. 3, http://www.gao.gov/assets/680/678114.pdf.

¹¹ Among other provisions, P.L. 112-40 (the Trade Adjustment Assistance Extension Act of 2011; enacted October 21, 2011) added requirements that (1) states charge an employer's account (i.e., for the purposes of state unemployment taxes) when UC overpayments are the fault (through action or inaction) of the employer, (2) states assess a minimum 15% penalty on UC overpayments due to claimant fraud, and (3) employers report any "rehired employee" to the National Directory of New Hires.

¹² Among other provisions, P.L. 112-96 (the Middle-Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012; enacted February 22, 2012) added requirements that states (1) recover 100% of any erroneous UC benefit overpayment by reducing up to 100% of the UC benefit in each week until the overpayment is fully recovered (although it allowed states to waive such deduction if it would be contrary to equity and good conscience), (2) recover certain federal benefits payments through reduced UC payments, and (3) provide reemployment and eligibility assessment activities to the temporary Emergency Unemployment Compensation of 2008 (EUC08) claimants (the law provided \$85 per person served through FY2013).

¹³ Among other provisions, P.L. 113-67 (the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013; enacted December 26, 2013) included a provision that required states (one year after the unemployment benefit overpayment debt was finally determined to be due) to recover any remaining state overpayments through reduced federal income tax refunds.

¹⁴ P.L. 112-96 also (1) added a federal requirement that states require work search as a condition of eligibility for UC (all states had such a requirement prior to the enactment of this law); (2) required that individuals receiving EUC08 benefits be able to work, available to work, and actively seeking work; (3) clarified federal law to allow (but not require) states to engage in drug testing UC claimants under certain circumstances (and permitted states to deny benefits to an applicant who tests positive for drugs under those circumstances).

UC Eligibility and Disqualification

The UC program generally does not provide UC benefits to the self-employed, individuals who are unable to work, or individuals who do not have a recent earnings history. Eligibility for UC benefits is based on attaining qualified wages and employment in covered work over a 12-month period (called a base period) prior to unemployment. To receive UC benefits, claimants must be able, available, and actively searching for work. UC claimants generally may not refuse suitable work, as defined under state laws, and maintain their UC eligibility. In addition, states may disqualify claimants who lost their jobs because of inability to work, voluntarily quit without good cause, were discharged for job-related misconduct, or refused suitable work without good cause.

The methods states use to determine monetary eligibility (based on an individual's previous earnings history) and nonmonetary eligibility (based on other characteristics related to an individual's unemployment status) vary across state UC programs.¹⁵ An ineligible individual is prohibited from receiving UC benefits under a state's laws until the condition serving as the basis for ineligibility no longer exists. UC eligibility is generally determined on a weekly basis. State UC programs may also *disqualify* individuals who apply for UC benefits. In this situation, which is distinct from ineligibility, an individual has no rights to UC benefits until she or he requalifies under a state's laws, usually by serving a predetermined disqualification period or obtaining new employment. In some situations, UC benefits may be reduced or wage credits may be cancelled for disqualified individuals.

Disqualification for Unemployment Due to Illegal Drug Use

Virtually all states currently disqualify individuals for UC benefits if they lost their jobs because of illegal drug use; it may be considered a "discharge for misconduct connected with the work."¹⁶ In addition, 20 states have UC laws that specifically address other circumstances under which alcohol misuse, illegal drug use, and related occurrences, including refusing to undergo a drug test or testing positive for drugs or alcohol, may be disqualifying. **Table 1** reproduces DOL's recent summary information on the 20 states with UC drug provisions.¹⁷

| State | Workers Will Be Disqualified: | |
|---------|--|--|
| Alabama | For testing positive for illegal drugs after being warned of possible dismissal, for refusing to undergo drug testing, or for knowingly altering a blood or urine specimen | |
| Alaska | For reporting to work under the influence of drugs/alcohol, consumption on the employer's premises during work hours, or violation of employer's policy as long as policy meets statutory requirements | |

| Table 1. States with Drug and/or Alcohol Provisions in Their UC Programs |
|--|
|--|

¹⁶ DOL 2019 State UI Law Comparison, "Chapter 5: Nonmonetary Eligibility," pp. 9-11, https://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/pdf/uilawcompar/2019/nonmonetary.pdf.

¹⁷ DOL 2019 State UI Law Comparison, "Chapter 5: Nonmonetary Eligibility," Table 5-8, https://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/pdf/uilawcompar/2019/nonmonetary.pdf.

¹⁵ For summary information on state laws related to monetary eligibility, see "Chapter 3: Monetary Eligibility," in DOL, 2019 Comparison of State Unemployment Insurance Laws https://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/pdf/uilawcompar/2019/monetary.pdf (hereinafter, "DOL 2019 State UI Law Comparison"). For summary information on state laws related to nonmonetary eligibility, see DOL 2019 State UI Law Comparison, "Chapter 5: Nonmonetary Eligibility," https://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/pdf/uilawcompar/2019/nonmonetary.pdf.

| State | Workers Will Be Disqualified: | | |
|----------------|---|--|--|
| Arizona | For refusing to undergo drug or alcohol testing, or having tested positive for drugs or alcohol | | |
| Arkansas | For drinking on the job or reporting for work while under the influence of intoxicants, including a controlled substance; if discharged for testing positive for an illegal drug | | |
| California | For chronic absenteeism due to intoxication, reporting to work while intoxicated, using intoxicants on the job, or gross neglect of duty while intoxicated, when any of these incidents is caused by an irresistible compulsion to use intoxicants; also disqualified if individual quit for reasons caused by an irresistible compulsion to use intoxicants | | |
| Connecticut | If discharged or suspended due to being disqualified from performing work under state or federal law for which hired as a result of a drug or alcohol testing program mandated and conducted by such law | | |
| Florida | For drug use, as evidenced by a positive, confirmed drug test | | |
| Georgia | For violating an employer's drug-free workplace policy | | |
| Illinois | For consuming alcohol or illegal drugs, nonprescribed prescription drugs, or using an impairing substance in an off-label manner on the employer's premises during working hours in violation of the employer's policies, or showing up to work impaired during normal working hours | | |
| Kentucky | For reporting to work under the influence of drugs/alcohol, or consuming them on employer's premises during working hours | | |
| Louisiana | For the use of illegal drugs, on or off the job | | |
| Michigan | For illegally ingesting a controlled substance on the employer's premises, for refusing to submit to a drug test that was required to be administered in a nondiscriminatory manner, or for testing positive on a drug test that was administered in a nondiscriminatory manner | | |
| Missouri | For any drug/alcohol use; positive pre-employment drug/alcohol test is considered misconduct | | |
| New Hampshire | For intoxication or use of drugs that interferes with work | | |
| Oklahoma | For refusing to undergo drug or alcohol testing, or having tested positive for drugs or alcohol | | |
| Oregon | For failure or refusal to take a drug or alcohol test as required by employer's written policy; being under the influence of intoxicants while performing services for the employer; possessing a drug unlawfully; testing positive for alcohol or an unlawful drug in connection with employment; or refusing to enter into/violating terms of a last-chance agreement with employer; not disqualified if participating in a recognized rehabilitation program within 10 days of separation | | |
| Pennsylvania | For failure to submit to and/or pass a drug test conducted pursuant to an employer's established substance abuse policy, provided that the drug test is not requested or implemented in violation of the law or of a collective bargaining agreement | | |
| South Carolina | For failure or refusal to take a drug test or submitting to a drug test which tests positive for illegal drugs or legal drugs used unlawfully | | |
| West Virginia | For reporting to work in an intoxicated condition or under the influence of any controlled substance without a valid prescription; for being intoxicated or under the influence of any controlled substance without a valid prescription while at work; for manipulating a sample or specimen to thwart a lawfully required drug or alcohol test; for refusal to submit to random drug testing for employees in safety-sensitive positions | | |
| Virginia | For drug use, as evidenced by a positive, confirmed USDOT [U.S. Department of Transportation] qualified drug screen conducted in accordance with the employer's bona fide drug policy | | |

Source: Reproduced from Table 5-8 in U.S. Department of Labor, 2019 Comparison of State Unemployment Insurance Laws, "Chapter 5, Nonmonetary Eligibility," https://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/pdf/uilawcompar/2019/nonmonetary.pdf.

UC Drug Testing: Recent Developments

DOL's current interpretation of federal law requires states to determine UC entitlement based only on facts or causes related to the individual's unemployment status, subject to specific exceptions.¹⁸ Current state laws and regulations that disqualify individuals based upon illegal drug use (as discussed above) have been tailored to fit this DOL interpretation. Recent federal legislative and regulatory developments, however, have expanded states' authority to prospectively drug test UC applicants and beneficiaries. These recent developments include the enactment of a federal law permitting two new types of drug testing, the issuance of guidance and regulations to support the implementation of the law, the overturning of these regulations, and the issuing of a new final rule.

New Allowable Drug Testing Under P.L. 112-96

Section 2105 of the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012 (P.L. 112-96; enacted on February 22, 2012) amended federal law to allow (but not require) states to conduct two types of drug testing.¹⁹ First, it expanded the long-standing state option to disqualify UC applicants who were discharged from employment with their most recent employer (as defined under state law) for unlawful drug use by allowing states to drug test these applicants to determine UC benefit eligibility or disqualification. Second, it allowed states to drug test UC applicants for whom suitable work (as defined under state law) is available only in an occupation that regularly conducts drug testing, with such occupations to be determined under new regulations required to be issued by the Secretary of Labor.

2014 DOL Program Guidance: State Drug Testing Based upon Losing Employment Due to Illegal Use of Controlled Substances

On October 9, 2014, DOL released guidance on disqualifying UC applicants based upon certain "for cause" discharges.²⁰ This guidance (which remains in effect at this time) provided states with direction on how to conduct drug testing of UC applicants who are discharged from employment with their most recent employer for illegal use of controlled substances. States are permitted to deny benefits to individuals under these circumstances.

¹⁸ This requirement is based upon a 1964 DOL decision that precludes states from means-testing to determine UC eligibility. See Letter from Robert C. Goodwin, DOL administrator, to all state employment security agencies, October 2, 1964, at http://ows.doleta.gov/dmstree/uipl/uipl_pre75/uipl_787.htm. The determination was in response to a South Dakota law that required longer waiting periods for unemployment benefits for individuals with higher earnings.

¹⁹ By creating subsection (1) of Section 303 of the Social Security Act.

²⁰ DOL, Unemployment Insurance Program Letter (UIPL), No. 1-15, "Permissible Drug Testing of Certain Unemployment Compensation Applicants Provided for in Title II, Subtitle A of the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012," October 9, 2014, https://wdr.doleta.gov/directives/corr_doc.cfm?DOCN=6533 (hereinafter, "DOL 2014 Drug Testing UIPL").

2016 DOL Rule: State Drug Testing Based upon Job Search in an Occupation that Regularly Conducts Drug Testing (Repealed)

On August 1, 2016, DOL issued 20 C.F.R. Part 620,²¹ implementing the provisions of P.L. 112-96 related to the drug testing of UC applicants for whom suitable work (as defined under state law) is available only in an occupation that regularly conducts drug testing (as determined under regulations issued by DOL). The rule provided a list of the applicable occupations (20 C.F.R. Part 620.3) for which drug testing is regularly conducted. Significantly, the section of the regulations following this list (20 C.F.R. Part 620.4) limited a state's ability to conduct a drug test on UC applicants to those individuals who are only available for work in an occupation that regularly conducts drug testing under 20 C.F.R. Part 620.3. Thus, although an individual's previous occupation may have been listed in 20 C.F.R. Part 620.3, as long as she or he was currently able to work, available to work, and searching for work in at least one occupation not listed in 20 C.F.R. §620.3, the individual could not be subject to drug testing to determine eligibility for UC (unless she or he had been discharged for a drug-related reason).

Various stakeholders raised concerns about the UC drug testing provisions enacted under P.L. 112-96 and the 2016 DOL rule finalized under 20 C.F.R. Part 620. For example, advocates for UC beneficiaries claimed that drug testing applicants did not address any policy problem.²² On the other hand, a state administration stakeholder group²³ and some Members of Congress²⁴ contended that states needed more flexibility in implementing drug testing than was offered under the DOL rule. As the 115th Congress met, the DOL rule was unpopular with some Members, who considered DOL's interpretation too narrow.²⁵

Disapproval of 2016 DOL Rule Using Congressional Review Act

Shortly after DOL released the final 2016 rule related to establishing state UC program occupations that regularly conduct drug testing, policymakers used the Congressional Review Act (CRA) to overturn 20 C.F.R. §620.²⁶ On January 1, 2017, Representative Kevin Brady introduced a CRA resolution (H.J.Res. 42) to nullify DOL's 2016 rule. H.J.Res. 42 was passed by the House on February 15, 2017, and passed by the Senate on March 14, 2017. President Trump signed H.J.Res. 42 into law as P.L. 115-17 on March 31, 2017. Because the list of occupations that require regular drug testing no longer exists within the *Code of Federal Regulations* (as a result of P.L. 115-17), the ability to prospectively test UC claimants based upon occupation became no

²¹ DOL, "Federal-State Unemployment Compensation Program; Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012 Provision on Establishing Appropriate Occupations for Drug Testing of Unemployment Compensation Applicants," 81 *Federal Register* 50298-50303, August 1, 2016.

²² National Employment Law Project, "Drug Testing Unemployment Insurance Applicants: An Unconstitutional Solution in Search of a Problem," policy brief, February 2017, https://www.nelp.org/wp-content/uploads/Drug-Testing-Unemployment-Insurance-Applicants.pdf.

²³ Letter from Scott B. Sanders, executive director, National Association of State Workforce Agencies, to The Honorable Kevin Brady, chairman, House Ways and Means Committee, March 8, 2017.

²⁴ House Ways and Means Human Resources Subcommittee, "CRA: UI Drug Testing Overreach," press release, February 2017, https://waysandmeans.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/CRA-UI-Drug-Testing-Background.pdf.

²⁵ See, for example, Representative Kevin Brady's statements at a September 7, 2016, House Ways and Means Human Resources Subcommittee hearing on "Unemployment Insurance: An Overview of the Challenges and Strengths of Today's System," that expanded upon his disagreement with the DOL rule and its narrow interpretation, available at https://gop-waysandmeans.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/20160907HR-Transcript.pdf.

²⁶ For an overview of the CRA, see CRS Report R43992, *The Congressional Review Act (CRA): Frequently Asked Questions*.

longer available to states. Without this rule, states could drug test UC claimants only if they were discharged from employment because of unlawful drug use or for refusing a drug test.²⁷

In the *Congressional Record* for H.J.Res. 42, several Members provided justifications for their support or opposition of the measure.²⁸ Representative Kevin Brady, a supporter of the measure, argued that although the intent of the UC drug testing provisions in P.L. 112-96 was to provide states the ability to determine how to best implement drug testing programs, the final regulation narrowed the law to circumstances in which testing is legally required (rather than the broader definition of generally required by employer) and removed state discretion in conducting drug testing in their UC programs.²⁹ Representative Richard E. Neal, an opponent of the measure, argued there was no evidence that unemployed workers have higher rates of drug abuse than the general population. He also noted that it appeared that some states may be trying to limit the number of workers who collect UC benefits.³⁰

In addition, in the *Congressional Record* for S.J.Res. 23, the Senate companion bill to H.J.Res. 42, Senator Cruz stated his reasons for support of the Disapproving Rule:

The wording of the 2012 job creation act clearly demonstrated that Congress intended to provide States the ability to determine how to best implement these plans.... However, years after the law's passage, the Obama Department of Labor substantially narrowed the law beyond congressional intent to circumstances where testing is legally required, not where it is merely permitted. That narrow definition undermined congressional intent and it undermined the flexibility of the States to conduct drug testing in their programs, as permitted by Congress. This regulation is overly prescriptive. It removes State discretion regarding implementation, and it ignores years of congressional concern on both sides of the aisle.³¹

2019 DOL Reissued Rule³²

On November 5, 2018, DOL published a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NPRM) to reissue the rule identifying occupations that regularly conduct drug testing for purposes of Section 2105 of P.L. 112-96.³³ It was subsequently issued, with no substantive changes, as a new final rule on October 4, 2019.³⁴ Because the 2016 regulation on this issue was repealed using the

²⁷ DOL, Unemployment Insurance Program Letter (UIPL), No. 1-15 Change 2, "Removal of 20 CFR Part 620 – Occupations that Regularly Conduct Drug Testing," Washington, DC, May 17, 2017, https://wdr.doleta.gov/directives/ attach/UIPL/UIPL_1-15_Change_2.pdf.

²⁸ Harold Rogers, "Disapproving Rule Submitted by Department of Labor Relating to Drug Testing of Unemployment Compensation Applicants," House Morning-Hour Debate, *Congressional Record*, daily edition, vol. 163, part 27 (February 15, 2017), pp. H1200-H1206, https://www.congress.gov/crec/2017/02/15/CREC-2017-02-15.pdf.

²⁹ Ibid, pp. H1200-H1201.

³⁰ Ibid, p. H1201.

³¹ "Congressional Review Act Resolution," Senate Morning Business, *Congressional Record*, daily edition, vol. 163, part 44 (March 14, 2017), p. S1799, https://www.congress.gov/crec/2017/03/14/CREC-2017-03-14-pt1-PgS1799-3.pdf.

³² For additional insight on the reissuing of this rule after its repeal under the Congressional Review Act, see CRS Insight IN10996, *Reissued Labor Department Rule Tests Congressional Review Act Ban on Promulgating* "Substantially the Same" Rules.

³³ DOL, "Federal-State Unemployment Compensation Program; Establishing Appropriate Occupations for Drug Testing of Unemployment Compensation Applicants Under the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012," 83 *Federal Register* 55311-55318, November 5, 2018, https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2018-11-05/ pdf/2018-23952.pdf, (hereinafter, "DOL 2018 NPRM"). The period for comment on the proposed 2018 rule closed on January 4, 2019. Comments for this rule are available at https://www.regulations.gov/docket?D=ETA-2018-0004.

³⁴ DOL 2019, Reissued Rule.

Congressional Review Act, this new rule is subject to the reissue requirements of the CRA.³⁵ The CRA prohibits an agency from reissuing the rule in "substantially the same form" or issuing a "new rule that is substantially the same" as the disapproved rule, "unless the reissued or new rule is specifically authorized by a law enacted after the date of the joint resolution disapproving the original rule."³⁶

According to the front matter of the 2018 NPRM, DOL addressed the reissue requirements of the CRA by asserting that the new rule represents:³⁷

a substantially different and more flexible approach to the statutory requirements than the 2016 Rule, enabling States to enact legislation to require drug testing for a far larger group of UC applicants than the previous Rule permitted. This flexibility is intended to respect the diversity of States' economies and the different roles played by employment drug testing in those economies.

Table 2 compares the list of occupations—for which states were permitted to drug test UC applicants for whom suitable work (as defined under state law) is available only in an occupation that regularly conducts drug testing—provided in 20 C.F.R. Section 620.3 in the 2016 DOL rule and the 2019 DOL reissued final rule. The 2019 reissued final rule includes the same occupations listed in the repealed 2016 rule (20 C.F.R. §620.3(a)-(h)) and also provides for two additional types of occupations:³⁸

- those identified by state laws as requiring drug testing (20 C.F.R. §620.3(i)); and
- those for which states have a "factual basis for finding that employers hiring employees in that occupation conduct pre- or post-hire drug testing as a standard eligibility requirement for obtaining or maintaining employment in that occupation" (20 C.F.R. §620.3(j)).³⁹

DOL developed the list of occupations set out under 20 C.F.R. Section 620.3(a)-(h) in both the 2016 rule and the reissued 2018 proposed/2019 final rule in consultation with federal agencies that have expertise in drug testing: the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; the U.S. Department of Transportation; the U.S. Department of Defense; the U.S. Department of Homeland Security; DOL's Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS); and DOL's Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA).⁴⁰

In the NPRM 2018, DOL justified the additional types of occupations that are included in the 2019 reissued rule (20 C.F.R. §620.3(i) and (j)) by highlighting the flexibility that these

³⁵ For more information on the CRA, see CRS Report R43992, *The Congressional Review Act (CRA): Frequently Asked Questions.*

³⁶ Notably, this is the first time an agency has reissued a rule after the original version was disapproved under the CRA. For more information on potential implications for this reissued rule stemming from the disapproval of the 2016 rule under the CRA, see CRS Insight IN10996, *Reissued Labor Department Rule Tests Congressional Review Act Ban on Promulgating "Substantially the Same" Rules*.

³⁷ DOL 2018 NPRM, pp. 55312-55313.

³⁸ DOL notes that "this final rule includes minor changes from the proposed rule to add clarity. Specifically, changes were made to the rule text in the introductory paragraphs (b) through (g) of that section" (DOL 2019, Reissued Rule, p. 53038).

³⁹ As discussed in the NPRM, examples of resources that may constitute a "factual basis" include labor market surveys; reports from trade or professional organizations; and academic, government, or other research studies. These examples are not exhaustive. DOL 2018 NPRM, p. 55313.

⁴⁰ DOL 2018 NPRM, p. 55313.

categories provide, such as their responsiveness to heterogeneity across states in labor market conditions and policy preferences:⁴¹

Employers exercise a variety of approaches and practices in conducting drug testing of employees. Some States have laws that impose very minimal restrictions on employer drug testing of employees while other States have very detailed and proscriptive requirements about what actions the employer can take. That diversity of State treatment also renders an exhaustive list of such occupations impractical. The proposed Rule therefore lays out a flexible standard that States can individually meet under the facts of their specific economies and practices.

| Section | 2016 DOL Rule | 2019 DOL Reissued Rule |
|---------------------|--|--|
| 20 C.F.R. §620.3(a) | An occupation that requires the employee to carry a firearm; | An occupation that requires the employee to carry a firearm; |
| 20 C.F.R. §620.3(b) | An occupation identified in 14 C.F.R. 120.105 by the Federal Aviation Administration, in which the employee must be tested (Aviation flight crew members and air traffic controllers); | An occupation identified in 14 C.F.R. 120.105 by the Federal Aviation Administration, in which the employee must be tested (Aviation flight crew members and air traffic controllers); |
| 20 C.F.R. §620.3(c) | An occupation identified in 49 C.F.R. 382.103 by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, in which the employee must be tested (Commercial drivers); | An occupation identified in 49 C.F.R. 382.103 by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, in which the employee must be tested (Commercial drivers); |
| 20 C.F.R. §620.3(d) | An occupation identified in 49 C.F.R. 219.3 by the Federal Railroad Administration, in which the employee must be tested (Railroad operating crew members); | An occupation identified in 49 C.F.R. 219.3 by the Federal Railroad Administration, in which the employee must be tested (Railroad operating crew members); |
| 20 C.F.R. §620.3(e) | An occupation identified in 49 C.F.R. 655.3 by the Federal Transit Administration, in which the employee must be tested (Public transportation operators); | An occupation identified in 49 C.F.R. 655.3 by the Federal Transit Administration, in which the employee must be tested (Public transportation operators); |
| 20 C.F.R. §620.3(f) | An occupation identified in 49 C.F.R. 199.2 by the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, in which the employee must be tested (Pipeline operation and maintenance crew members); | An occupation identified in 49 C.F.R. 199.2 by the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, in which the employee must be tested (Pipeline operation and maintenance crew members); |
| 20 C.F.R. §620.3(g) | An occupation identified in 46 C.F.R. 16.201 by the U.S. Coast Guard, in which the employee must be tested (Crewmembers and maritime credential holders on a commercial vessel); | An occupation identified in 46 C.F.R. 16.201 by the U.S. Coast Guard, in which the employee must be tested (Crewmembers and maritime credential holders on a commercial vessel); |

Table 2. Comparison of Occupations Listed Under 20 C.F.R. Section 620.3 in DOL's2016 Rule and 2019 Reissued Rule

⁴¹ Ibid.

| Section | 2016 DOL Rule | 2019 DOL Reissued Rule |
|---------------------|--|---|
| 20 C.F.R. §620.3(h) | An occupation specifically identified in Federal law as requiring an employee to be tested for controlled substances; | An occupation specifically identified in Federal law as requiring an employee to be tested for controlled substances; |
| 20 C.F.R. §620.3(i) | [No such subsection] | An occupation specifically identified in the State law of that State as requiring an employee to be tested for controlled substances; and |
| 20 C.F.R. §620.3(j) | [No such subsection] | An occupation where the State has a factual basis for finding that employers hiring employees in that occupation conduct pre- or post- hire drug testing as a standard eligibility requirement for obtaining or maintaining employment in the occupation |

Sources: 2016 DOL Rule: Department of Labor, "Federal-State Unemployment Compensation Program; Middle-Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012 Provision on Establishing Appropriate Occupations for Drug Testing of Unemployment Compensation Applicants," 81 *Federal Register* 50298-50303, August 1, 2016; 2019 DOL Reissued Rule: Department of Labor, Department of Labor, "Federal-State Unemployment Compensation Program; Establishing Appropriate Occupations for Drug Testing of Unemployment Compensation Applicants Under the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012," 83 *Federal Register* 53037-52, October 4, 2019.

Notes: The 2019 DOL final rule is effective November 4, 2019.

UC Drug Testing: Arguments For and Against

In the context of recent legislative and regulatory developments, stakeholders have made a number of arguments in support of and in opposition to expanded UC drug testing. This section provides a discussion of these arguments, including comments on the proposed 2018 UC drug testing rule, which contribute additional context for this issue. Policymakers may also consider several types of administrative issues raised by expanded UC drug testing, including program establishment, funding considerations, and the provision of drug treatment services. These are discussed in this section as well.

In addition to the expanded UC drug testing authorized under P.L. 112-96, recent Congresses have considered two alternative approaches to the drug testing of UC applicants and beneficiaries: adding a new federal UC drug testing requirement (i.e., rather than a state option to drug test) or using some type of risk-assessment tool to guide the drug testing of UC claimants.⁴² **Appendix A** provides a discussion of legislation introduced in recent Congresses that would have used these alternative approaches to expanding UC drug testing. None of these bills advanced out of the committees to which they were referred.

⁴² Additionally, Representative Kevin Brady introduced the Ready to Work Act, in the 113th and 114th Congresses. Both of these bills would have affected the implementation of the DOL UC drug testing rule required under P.L. 112-96. H.R. 4310 (113th) would have set a deadline of one year after enactment for DOL to issue this final UC drug testing rule. H.R. 5945 (114th) would have terminated the final UC drug testing rule issued by DOL on August 1, 2016. See the discussion of subsequent developments related to this UC drug test rule in the section on "Disapproval of 2016 DOL Rule Using Congressional Review Act."

Arguments in Favor of Expanded UC Drug Testing

Proponents of prospective drug testing assert this new UC program function is warranted by program integrity concerns. Additionally, they argue that in today's job market, the ability to pass a drug test is required to be "job ready." Finally, proponents contend that allowing a state to determine the jobs requiring drug testing for itself reflects the UC system's general approach of allowing states flexibility to shape their own UC programs.

Program Integrity

The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) has designated the UC program as one of 19 "high-error" programs.⁴³ In FY2017, the UC improper payment rate was 12.5%, with a total of \$4.1 billion in improper payments.⁴⁴ Thus, expanded UC drug testing may be viewed as one type of program integrity measure. The authority for the expanded UC drug testing under Section 2105 of P.L. 112-96 was enacted along with several other program integrity measures (authorized under Sections 2103 and 2104 of P.L. 112-96) to ensure that UC benefits are not distributed to individuals involved in illegal drug use, presuming that this behavior may impede prospects for future employment.

Job Readiness

More specifically, expanded UC drug testing has been described by supporters as a type of program integrity activity that promotes "job readiness." Because federal law requires that UC claimants be able to work, available to work, and actively searching for work as a condition of eligibility,⁴⁵ drug testing may be viewed as a measure that helps to verify an ability and availability to work; the logic being that individuals with substance abuse problems would not meet this UC eligibility requirement. For example, Representative Kevin Brady's statements at a September 7, 2016, House Ways and Means Human Resources Subcommittee hearing on "Unemployment Insurance: An Overview of the Challenges and Strengths of Today's System," provide an example of this argument:

In a world where more and more industries and careers require workers who are drug free, especially in security-sensitive professions with many directed, by the way, by Federal law, this important reform signed by President Obama made sound policy since then and continues to today. If you have lost a job due to drug use, you have established you are not fully able to work. If you can't take a new job because you can't pass a required basic routine drug test, you are not really available for work either. In both cases, you have forfeited your eligibility to receive unemployment payments subsidized by employers.⁴⁶

Additionally, in a letter supportive of H.J.Res. 42, which nullified DOL's 2016-finalized rule related to establishing state UC program occupations that regularly conduct drug testing, the

⁴³ See https://paymentaccuracy.gov/high-priority-programs/.

⁴⁴ See DOL UC improper payment rate data at https://oui.doleta.gov/unemploy/pdf/UI_Improper_PaymentRates.pdf; and DOL UC improper payment amount data at https://oui.doleta.gov/unemploy/improp_payrate.asp.

⁴⁵ Section 303(a)(12) of the Social Security Act.

⁴⁶ See https://gop-waysandmeans.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/20160907HR-Transcript.pdf.

UWC – Strategic Services on Unemployment & Workers' Compensation (UWC)⁴⁷ presented a similar argument:⁴⁸

Drug testing is a critical requirement of employment in many industries and generally in determining whether a prospective employee will be able to perform the responsibilities of work for which the individual has applied. The results of drug tests are also indications of whether an individual is able to work and available to work so as to be eligible to be paid unemployment compensation.

State Flexibility

Supporters of expanded UC drug testing also make the argument that states ought to have the option to prospectively drug test UC claimants as an extension of general state discretion in UC eligibility and administration.⁴⁹ Although there are broad requirements under federal law regarding UC benefits, much of the specifics of eligibility are set out under each state's laws. In this way, expanded drug testing, at the option of states, fits with the joint federal-state nature of the UC system.

Arguments Against Expanded UC Drug Testing

Opponents of the prospective drug testing of UC claimants raise a number of concerns: increased administrative costs, conflicts with the goals of the UC program to provide timely income replacement, and potential legal concerns (see the "Potential Legal Concerns" section).

Increased Administrative Costs

Some of the organizations that provided comments on DOL's 2018 proposed rule cite the increased costs of expanded UC drug testing.⁵⁰ Details of UC administrative funding are discussed in more detail below in the section on "Funding a State Drug Testing Program." But briefly, the addition of new administrative functions performed by state UC programs without additional administrative funding amounts and/or funding sources is of concern to some stakeholders. For example, in its letter to DOL commenting on the 2018 proposed rule, the Michigan Employment Lawyers Association claims:⁵¹

It is well documented that states don't have adequate funding to truly run their UI programs in a fully efficient and effective manner. As states are experiencing record low administrative funding which is based on unemployment levels, which are historically low,

⁴⁷ The organization's website states the following: "Established in 1933, UWC – Strategic Services on Unemployment & Workers' Compensation (UWC) is the only broad-based, country-wide association exclusively devoted to representing the interests of the business community on unemployment insurance and workers' compensation (WC) public policy issues."

⁴⁸ See https://gop-waysandmeans.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/UWC-Support-for-H.J.-Res-421.pdf.

⁴⁹ House Ways and Means Human Resources Subcommittee, "CRA: UI Drug Testing Overreach," press release, February 2017, https://waysandmeans.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/CRA-UI-Drug-Testing-Background.pdf.

⁵⁰ See, for example, Letter from Valerie Hendrickson, Administrative Law Team Leader, Southeastern Ohio Legal Services, to Adele Gagliardi, Administrator, Office of Policy and Development Research, DOL, January 4, 2019, https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=ETA-2018-0004-0195; and Letter from Elizabeth Lower-Basch, Director, Income and Work Support, Center for Law and Social Policy, to Adele Gagliardi, Administrator, Office of Policy and Development Research, DOL, December 26, 2018, https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=ETA-2018-0004-0175.

⁵¹ Letter from Sarah Prescott and David Blanchard, Michigan Employment Lawyers Association, to Adele Gagliardi, Administrator, Office of Policy and Development Research, DOL, January 7, 2019, p. 5, https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=ETA-2018-0004-0197.

they can scarcely afford additional administrative burdens. Because federal law prohibits assigning this cost to claimants, states would have to absorb the full cost of drug testing thousands of unemployed workers. At a time when they are already struggling to administer their UI programs because of reductions in federal administrative funding, this is a cost they can ill-afford.

Conflicts with Fundamental Goals of UC Program

Opponents of expanded UC drug testing also make the argument that it does not serve, and could even undermine, the fundamental goals of the UC program, which include the timely provision of income replacement to individuals who lost a job through no fault of their own. For instance, advocates for UC beneficiaries claim that drug testing applicants does not address any policy problem.⁵² Some stakeholders also worry that expanded UC drug testing could create barriers to UC benefit receipt among eligible individuals (e.g., by discouraging UC claims filing). The comment from Southeastern Ohio Legal Services on DOL's 2018 proposed rule includes the following claims: "There is no evidence that unemployed workers have higher rates of drug abuse than the general population. Requiring this testing would also add just one more barrier to UI applicants trying to meet the cost of living."⁵³ Similarly, in their comment on the 2018 proposed rule, Senator Ron Wyden and Representative Danny K. Davis asserted:⁵⁴

Not only is UI recipiency near a record low, but numerous states in recent years have shortened the number of weeks of UI benefits available to workers. On top of that, more than half of states have insufficient UI trust fund balances, meaning they could only pay unemployment benefits for a short time if a recession hits. The Department of Labor should focus on protecting workers and addressing these challenges to the UI system before the next recession, not proposing regulations to further undermine access to earned benefits.

Potential Legal Concerns⁵⁵

Stakeholders have also raised at least two legal concerns with DOL's 2019 final rule. First, some commenters have argued that UC drug testing programs implemented in accordance with the final rule may violate the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.⁵⁶ Second, some commenters

⁵² National Employment Law Project, Policy Brief, "Drug Testing Unemployment Insurance Applicants: An Unconstitutional Solution in Search of a Problem," February 2017, https://www.nelp.org/wp-content/uploads/Drug-Testing-Unemployment-Insurance-Applicants.pdf.

⁵³ Letter from Valerie Hendrickson, Administrative Law Team Leader, Southeastern Ohio Legal Services, to Adele Gagliardi, Administrator, Office of Policy and Development Research, DOL, January 4, 2019, p. 3, https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=ETA-2018-0004-0195.

⁵⁴ Letter from Senator Ron Wyden, Senate Committee on Finance, and Representative Danny K. Davis, House Committee on Ways and Means, to Adele Gagliardi, Administrator, Office of Policy and Development Research, DOL, p. 3, January 7, 2019, p. 2, https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=ETA-2018-0004-0179. For information on states that have reduced their maximum UC duration, see CRS Report R41859, *Unemployment Insurance: Consequences of Changes in State Unemployment Compensation Laws*.

⁵⁵ This section was authored by Legislative Attorneys David H. Carpenter and Jon O. Shimabukuro of CRS's American Law Division (ALD). It uses citation and other styles consistent with ALD's reports.

⁵⁶ See, e.g., Nat'l Emp. L. Project, Comment Letter on Proposed Rule to Establish Appropriate Occupations for Drug Testing of Unemployment Compensation Applicants (Dec. 29, 2018), https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=ETA-2018-0004-0177 and Se. Ohio Legal Serv., Comment Letter on Proposed Rule to Establish Appropriate Occupations for Drug Testing of Unemployment Compensation Applicants, (Jan. 4, 2019), https://www.regulations.gov/document? D=ETA-2018-0004-0195.

argue that the rule improperly delegates authority to the states to identify occupations that regularly conduct drug testing.⁵⁷ These issues are analyzed in turn.

Constitutional Considerations in Drug Testing UC Beneficiaries⁵⁸

Congress amended Section 303 of the Social Security Act in 2012 to clarify that nothing in federal law prevents states from testing two groups of UC applicants for illicit drug use: (1) those terminated from their previous positions because of drug use (hereinafter referred to as the "previously terminated" group), and (2) those who are suited to work "in an occupation that regularly conducts drug testing" (hereinafter referred to as the "regularly tested occupation" group).⁵⁹ As discussed above, DOL issued regulations to guide states on how to design and implement drug testing programs in accordance with Section 303 of the Social Security Act.⁶⁰ Constitutional considerations, including protections against unreasonable government searches, may inform the implementation of government-mandated drug testing programs.

This section begins with a general overview of the Fourth Amendment and then reviews three Supreme Court opinions addressing the constitutionality of drug testing programs in the employment context, as well as two lower court cases involving similar state laws that conditioned the receipt of federal benefits on passing drug tests. The section concludes with an assessment of factors that might affect the constitutionality of a UC drug testing program in light of the Fourth Amendment.

Fourth Amendment Overview

The Fourth Amendment protects the "right of the people" to be free from "unreasonable searches and seizures" by the federal government.⁶¹ Although Fourth Amendment protections do not extend to purely private action,⁶² the Supreme Court has held that its protections extend to state

⁵⁷ See *id*.

⁵⁹ 42 U.S.C. §503(*l*)(1). The Section states, in its entirety:

(1) No interference with State laws regarding applicant's unlawful use of controlled substances

(A) testing an applicant for unemployment compensation for the unlawful use of controlled substances as a condition for receiving such compensation, if such applicant—

(i) was terminated from employment with the applicant's most recent employer (as defined under the State law) because of the unlawful use of controlled substances; or

(ii) is an individual for whom suitable work (as defined under the State law) is only available in an occupation that regularly conducts drug testing (as determined under regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor); or

(B) denying such compensation to such applicant on the basis of the result of the testing conducted by the State under legislation described in subparagraph (A).

⁶⁰ DOL 2019, Reissued Rule, 84 Fed. Reg., 53,037, 53,052 (Oct. 4, 2019) (to be codified at 20 C.F.R. §620.3(a)-(j)). DOL's 2019 regulations do not elaborate on how states should define the "previously terminated" group but delineate a number of categories of "regularly tested occupations." *Id*.

⁶¹ U.S. CONST. AMEND. IV ("The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.").

⁶² See, e.g., United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 113-14 (1984) ("This Court has also consistently construed this

⁵⁸ This section was authored by David H. Carpenter, Legislative Attorney, American Law Division, CRS. Potential legal concerns under relevant state constitutions are beyond the scope of this report.

⁽¹⁾ Nothing in this chapter or any other provision of Federal law shall be considered to prevent a State from enacting legislation to provide for—

and local action through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.⁶³ Governmental conduct generally has been found to constitute a "search" for Fourth Amendment purposes where it infringes "an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable."⁶⁴ The Court has held on a number of occasions that government-administered drug tests are searches under the Fourth Amendment.⁶⁵ Therefore, the constitutionality of a law that requires an individual to pass a drug test to receive UC likely would turn on whether the drug test is reasonable under the circumstances.⁶⁶

Whether a search is reasonable depends on the nature of the search and its underlying governmental purpose.⁶⁷ Reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment generally requires individualized suspicion, which often, particularly in the criminal law enforcement context, takes the form of a court-issued warrant based on probable cause that a legal violation has occurred.⁶⁸ The purpose of a warrant is to ensure that government-conducted searches are legally authorized, rather than "random or arbitrary acts of government actors."⁶⁹ However, the Court has held that a warrant is not "essential" under all circumstances to make a search reasonable, particularly when "the burden of obtaining a warrant is likely to frustrate the governmental purpose behind the search."⁷⁰

The Court has noted, for instance, that "the probable-cause standard ... may be unsuited to determining the reasonableness of administrative searches" that are conducted for purposes unrelated to criminal investigations.⁷¹ For these noncriminal, administrative searches, courts typically employ a reasonable suspicion standard, which is "a lesser standard than probable cause."⁷² The Court has "deliberately avoided reducing [the reasonable suspicion standard] to a

⁷⁰ Skinner, 489 U.S. at 624.

protection as proscribing only governmental action; it is wholly inapplicable to a search or seizure, even an unreasonable one, effected by a private individual not acting as an agent of the Government or with the participation or knowledge of any governmental official.") (internal citations and quotations omitted); Chandler v. Miller, 520 U.S. 305, 323 (1997) ("And we do not speak to drug testing in the private sector, a domain unguarded by Fourth Amendment constraints.").

⁶³ Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 655 (1961).

⁶⁴ Jacobsen, 466 U.S. at 113.

⁶⁵ See, e.g., Bd. of Educ. of Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 92 of Pottawatomie Cnty. v. Earls, 536 U.S. 822 (2002); *Chandler*, 520 U.S. at 305; Vernonia Sch. Dist. v. Acton, 515 U.S. 646 (1995); Nat'l Treasury Emp. Union v. Von Raab, 489 U.S. 656 (1989); and Skinner v. Ry. Labor Exec. Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602 (1989).

⁶⁶ See, e.g., Lebron v. Sec'y of Fla. Dep't of Children & Families, 772 F.3d 1352, 1361 (11th Cir. 2014).

⁶⁷ Chandler, 520 U.S. at 313-14.

⁶⁸ Earls, 536 U.S. at 828 ("In the criminal context, reasonableness usually requires a showing of probable cause. The probable-cause standard, however, is peculiarly related to criminal investigations and may be unsuited to determining the reasonableness of administrative searches where the 'Government seeks to prevent the development of hazardous conditions.") (internal citations omitted); *Von Raab*, 489 U.S. at 665 ("While we have often emphasized, and reiterate today, that a search must be supported, as a general matter, by a warrant issued upon probable cause, our decision in [*Skinner v.*] *Railway Labor Executives* reaffirms the longstanding principle that neither a warrant nor probable cause, nor, indeed, any measure of individualized suspicion, is an indispensable component of reasonableness in every circumstance.") (internal citations omitted); *Chandler*, 520 U.S. at 313 ("To be reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, a search ordinarily must be based on individualized suspicion of wrongdoing.").

⁶⁹ Camara v. Municipal Court of San Francisco, 387 U.S. 523, 533 (1967). See also Skinner, 489 U.S. at 623.

⁷¹ *Earls*, 536 U.S. at 828 ("In the criminal context, reasonableness usually requires a showing of probable cause. The probable-cause standard, however, is peculiarly related to criminal investigations and may be unsuited to determining the reasonableness of administrative searches where the 'Government seeks to prevent the development of hazardous conditions.") (internal citations omitted).

⁷² United States v. Contrell, 146 Fed. App'x 157, 161 (9th Cir. 1995) (citing United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 274 (2002).

neat set of legal rules,"⁷³ but at a minimum, the standard requires that, in light of the "totality of the circumstances," there is a "particularized and objective basis," beyond "a mere hunch," that a search would uncover wrongdoing.⁷⁴

Additionally, while a search generally must be based on "some quantum of individualized suspicion" to be reasonable under the Fourth Amendment,⁷⁵ the Court has held that "a showing of individualized suspicion is not a constitutional floor."⁷⁶ "In limited circumstances," when a search imposes a minor intrusion on an individual's privacy interests, while furthering an "important government interest" that would be undermined by requiring individualized suspicion, "a search may be reasonable despite the absence of such suspicion."⁷⁷

The Court has recognized an exception to the typical individualized suspicion requirement "when special needs, beyond the normal need for law enforcement, make the warrant and probable-cause requirement impracticable,"⁷⁸ and the government's needs outweigh privacy interests invaded by a search.⁷⁹ The Court noted that "[o]ur precedents establish that the proffered special need for drug testing must be substantial—important enough to override the individual's acknowledged privacy interest."⁸⁰ The Court has recognized two categories of "special needs" substantial enough to justify suspicionless drug testing:⁸¹ in the employment context, where individuals perform activities involving matters of public safety,⁸² and the public school setting, involving children in the government's care.⁸³

In instances where the government argues that "drug tests 'fall within the closely guarded category of constitutionally permissible suspicionless searches',"⁸⁴ courts determine whether such searches are reasonable under the circumstances by balancing the competing interests of the government conducting the search and the private individuals who are subject to the search.⁸⁵

⁷⁹ Chandler, 520 U.S. at 313-14.

⁸⁰ Id. at 318.

⁷³ United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 274 (2002) (internal quotations omitted).

⁷⁴ Id.

⁷⁵ *Skinner*, 489 U.S. at 624.

⁷⁶ Id. (citing United States v. Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543, 561 (1976)).

⁷⁷ Id.

⁷⁸ Griffin v. Wisconsin, 483 U.S. 868, 873 (1987) (internal quotations omitted). The Court, at times, has seemed to indicate that a "special need" may not necessarily be of notably great importance, but instead simply consists of a need "advanced as a justification for the absence of a warrant or individualized suspicion was one divorced from the State's general interest in law enforcement." Ferguson v. City of Charleston, 532 U.S. 67, 79-80 (2001). *See also* Int'l Union (UAW) v. Winters, 336 F. Supp. 2d 686, 689 (W.D. Mich. 2003) ("Although the case law speaks of a 'closely guarded' class of suspicionless searches which must be justified by a 'special need,' recent decisions demonstrate that practically any proper governmental purpose other than law enforcement is sufficient to constitute a special need, triggering balancing between the governmental interests and the individual's privacy interests.").

⁸¹ See generally id. at 314-18. See also Lebron v. Sec'y of Fla. Dep't of Children & Families, 703 F.3d 1202, 1207 (11th Cir. 2014) ("The Court has recognized two concerns that present such 'exceptional circumstances,' which are sufficiently 'substantial' to qualify as special needs meriting an exemption to the Fourth Amendment's warrant and probable cause requirement: the specific risk to public safety by employees engaged in inherently dangerous jobs and the protection of children entrusted to the public school system's care and tutelage.").

⁸² Nat'l Treasury Emp. Union v. Von Raab, 489 U.S. 656, 666 (1989); and Skinner v. Ry. Labor Exec. Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 620 (1989).

⁸³ Bd. of Educ. of Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 92 of Pottawatomie Cnty. v. Earls, 536 U.S. 822 (2002); Vernonia Sch. Dist. v. Acton, 515 U.S. 646 (1995).

⁸⁴ Ferguson v. City of Charleston, 532 U.S. 67, 77 (2001) (quoting *Chandler*, 520 U.S. at 309).

⁸⁵ Chandler, 520 U.S. at 314 ("When such 'special needs'—concerns other than crime detection—are alleged in

Thus, even if special needs exist, government-mandated searches could still run afoul of the Fourth Amendment if they are excessively intrusive or otherwise significantly invade the privacy interests of affected individuals.⁸⁶

The Court has assessed the constitutionality of governmental drug testing programs in a number of contexts.⁸⁷ Three opinions in the employment context seem especially relevant to the question of whether a mandatory, suspicionless drug test for the receipt of UC would be considered an unreasonable search in violation of the Fourth Amendment.⁸⁸ Additionally, two lower court cases, in which state laws that established mandatory, suspicionless drug testing programs as a condition to receiving Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) (formerly welfare) benefits were successfully challenged on Fourth Amendment grounds, could provide relevant insight into how future courts might assess the constitutionality of a UC drug testing program.⁸⁹ These five cases are assessed in turn.

Supreme Court Drug Testing Precedent

In *Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives Association*,⁹⁰ the Court upheld as reasonable under the Fourth Amendment Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) regulations that required breath, blood, and urine tests of railroad workers involved in train accidents.⁹¹ The Court held that the "special needs" of railroad safety—for "the traveling public and the employees themselves"— made traditional Fourth Amendment requirements of a warrant and probable cause "impracticable" in this context.⁹² According to the Court, covered rail employees had "expectations of privacy" as to their own physical condition that were "diminished by reasons of their participation in an industry that is regulated pervasively to ensure safety," and the testing procedures utilized "pose[d] only limited threats to the justifiable expectations of privacy of covered employees."⁹³ In these circumstances, the majority held, it was reasonable to conduct the tests, even in the absence of a warrant or reasonable suspicion that any employee may be impaired.⁹⁴

In *National Treasury Employees Union v. Von Raab*,⁹⁵ which was handed down on the same day as *Skinner*, the Court upheld suspicionless drug testing of U.S. Customs Service personnel who

90 489 U.S. 602 (1989).

justification of a Fourth Amendment intrusion, courts must undertake a context-specific inquiry, examining closely the competing private and public interests advanced by the parties.").

⁸⁶ Id.; UAW, Local 1600 v. Winters, 385 F.3d 1003, 1007-08 (6th Cir. 2004).

⁸⁷ See, e.g., *Earls*, 536 U.S. at 822; *Chandler*, 520 U.S. at 305; Vernonia Sch. Dist. v. Acton, 515 U.S. 646 (1995); Nat'l Treasury Emp. Union v. Von Raab, 489 U.S. 656 (1989); Skinner v. Ry. Labor Exec. Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602 (1989).

⁸⁸ The Court also has held that special needs exist in the public school setting. *Vernonia*, 515 U.S. at 653 (upholding a public school district's policy that required students to undergo drug testing to participate in school sports); *Earls*, 536 U.S. at 826 (upholding a public school policy that required suspicionless drug testing of students wishing to participate "in any extracurricular activity").

⁸⁹ Marchwinski v. Howard, 60 F. App'x 601 (6th Cir. 2003) (affirming the district court judgment in accordance with Stupak-Thrall v. United States, 89 F.3d 1269 (6th Cir. 1996) because a 12-member en banc panel of appellate judges was evenly split, with six judges wanting to affirm and six judges wanting to reverse the district court's opinion); Lebron v. Sec'y of Fla. Dep't of Children & Families, 772 F.3d 1352, 1361 (11th Cir. 2014).

⁹¹ *Id.* at 606.

⁹² *Id.* at 621, 631.

⁹³ *Id.* at 627-28.

⁹⁴ *Id.* at 633.

⁹⁵ 489 U.S. 656 (1989).

sought transfer or promotion to certain "sensitive" positions—i.e., those that require carrying guns or are associated with drug interdiction.⁹⁶ The Court concluded that covered employees had "a diminished expectation of privacy interests" due to the nature of their job duties.⁹⁷ Additionally, the applicable testing procedures were minimally invasive on privacy interests because employees were provided advanced notice of testing procedures; urine samples were only tested for specified drugs and were not used for any other purposes; urine samples were provided in private stalls; employees were not required to share personal medical information except to licensed medical professionals, and only if tests were positive; and the testing procedures were "highly accurate."⁹⁸ Therefore, the Court held that the suspicionless drug testing program was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment.⁹⁹

In contrast, the Court in Chandler v. Miller¹⁰⁰ struck down a Georgia statute requiring candidates for certain elective offices be tested for illicit drug use.¹⁰¹ The majority opinion noted several factors distinguishing the Georgia law from drug testing requirements upheld in earlier cases. First, there was no "fear or suspicion" of generalized illicit drug use by state elected officials.¹⁰² The Court noted that, while not a necessary constitutional prerequisite, evidence of historical drug abuse by the group targeted for testing might "shore up an assertion of special need for a suspicionless general search program."¹⁰³ In addition, the law did not serve as a "credible means" to detect or deter drug abuse by public officials because the timing of the test was largely controlled by the candidate rather than the state and legal compliance could be achieved by a mere temporary abstinence.¹⁰⁴ Finally, the "relentless scrutiny" to which candidates for public office are subjected made suspicionless testing less necessary than in the case of safety-sensitive positions beyond the public view.¹⁰⁵ The Chandler Court went on to stress that searches conducted without individualized suspicion generally must be linked to a degree of public safety "important enough to override the individual's acknowledged privacy interest" to be reasonable.¹⁰⁶ At least outside the context of drug testing related to children in the government's care.¹⁰⁷ the *Chandler* Court seemed to indicate that "where ... public safety is not genuinely in jeopardy, the Fourth Amendment precludes the suspicionless search, no matter how conveniently arranged."108

¹⁰³ *Id.* at 319.

¹⁰⁸ Chandler, 520 U.S. at 323.

⁹⁶ Id. at 679.

⁹⁷ *Id*. at 672.

⁹⁸ Id. at 672-73 n.2.

⁹⁹ *Id*. at 677.

¹⁰⁰ 520 U.S. 305 (1997).

¹⁰¹ Chandler v. Miller, 520 U.S. 305, 322 (1997).

¹⁰² Id. at 318-19.

¹⁰⁴ *Id.* at 319-20.

¹⁰⁵ Id. at 323 (internal citations omitted).

¹⁰⁶ *Id.* at 318.

¹⁰⁷ In cases decided both prior to and following *Chandler*, the Court has upheld suspicionless drug testing in the public school context. See, e.g., Bd. of Educ. v. Earls, 536 U.S. 822, 834-38 (2002) (discussing the Court's decisions upholding suspicionless drug testing in the employment and school contexts, and observing that a public school's suspicionless drug testing of students participating in extracurricular activities was supported by the school's "interest in protecting the safety and health of its students"). *See also* Marchwinski v. Howard, 309 F.3d 330, 333-34 (2002) (collecting Supreme Court cases where a "special need" was considered sufficient to support suspicionless drug testing, all of which involved the testing of public employees or students in public school).

Lower Court Cases Involving TANF Drug Testing

The federal district court ruling in *Marchwinski v. Howard*,¹⁰⁹ which was affirmed by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit as a result of an evenly divided en banc panel,¹¹⁰ involved a state program requiring the suspicionless drug testing of TANF applicants. The district court in *Marchwinski* stated that "the *Chandler* Court made clear that suspicionless drug testing is unconstitutional if there is no showing of a special need [] that ... [is] grounded in public safety."¹¹¹ According to the *Marchwinski* court, the state's "primary justification ... for instituting mandatory drug testing is to move more families from welfare to work."¹¹² This legislative objective, however, is not "a special need grounded in public safety" that would justify a suspicionless drug tests in this context would provide a justification for conducting suspicionless drug tests of all parents of children who receive governmental benefits of any kind, such as student loans and a public education, which "would set a dangerous precedent."¹¹⁴ Thus, the court granted the plaintiffs' motion for a preliminary injunction, concluding that the "Plaintiffs have established a strong likelihood of succeeding on the merits of their Fourth Amendment claim."¹¹⁵

In another TANF case, *Lebron v. Secretary, Florida Department of Children and Families*,¹¹⁷ a three-judge panel of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit unanimously affirmed a district court's ruling¹¹⁸ that a mandatory drug testing law applicable to TANF beneficiaries in Florida was unconstitutional. While "viewing all facts in the light most favorable to the State,"¹¹⁹ the panel concluded that "the State has not demonstrated a substantial special need to carry out

¹¹³ Id.

¹⁰⁹ Marchwinski v. Howard, 113 F. Supp. 2d 1134 (E.D. Mich. 2000). A unanimous three-judge panel decision of the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals (Marchwinski v. Howard, 309 F.3d 330 (2002)) was vacated when the appellate court granted a motion to rehear the case en banc. Marchwinski v. Howard, 319 F.3d 258 (6th Cir. 2003). The vacated three-judge panel decision would have reversed the district court's grant of a preliminary injunction because the lower court "applied an erroneous legal standard" by "holding that only a public safety concern can qualify as a 'special need'" and because "the evidence in the case at hand establishes that Michigan's special need does encompass public safety concerns, as well as other needs beyond the normal need for law enforcement." Marchwinski v. Howard, 309 F.3d 330 (2002) (*vacated*) (internal quotations omitted).

¹¹⁰ Marchwinski v. Howard, 60 Fed. App'x 601 (6th Cir. 2003) (affirming the district court judgment in accordance with Stupak-Thrall v. United States, 89 F.3d 1269 (6th Cir. 1996) because a 12-member en banc panel of appellate judges was evenly split, with six judges wanting to affirm and six judges wanting to reverse the district court's opinion).

¹¹¹ Marchwinski, 113 F. Supp. at 1143.

¹¹² *Id.* at 1140.

¹¹⁴ *Id.* at 1142. The court also disagreed with the state's argument "that the voluntary nature of applying for welfare benefits diminishes the applicants [*sic*] expectation of privacy," arguing that *Chandler* "involved an even more voluntary activity ... run[ning] for public office," and in that case, the Supreme Court made clear that the drug tests were unconstitutional searches. *Id.* at 1143.

¹¹⁵ *Id.* at 1143.

¹¹⁶ Press Release, ACLU, Settlement Reached in ACLU of Michigan Lawsuit Over Mandatory Drug Testing of Welfare Recipients (Dec. 18, 2003), https://www.aclu.org/press-releases/settlement-reached-aclu-michigan-lawsuit-over-mandatory-drug-testing-welfare?redirect=news/settlement-reached-aclu-michigan-lawsuit-over-mandatory-drug-testing-welfare.recipients.

¹¹⁷ Lebron v. Sec'y of Fla. Dep't of Children & Families, 772 F.3d 1352, 1361 (11th Cir. 2014).

¹¹⁸ Lebron v. Wilkins, 990 F. Supp. 1280 (M.D. Fla. 2013).

¹¹⁹ Lebron, 772 F.3d at 1355.

the suspicionless search."¹²⁰ The panel also determined that the state had not provided evidence to support the notion that drug use by TANF recipients was any different than that of the Florida population at-large, and even if it had, this "drug-testing program is not well designed to identify or deter applicants whose drug use will affect employability, endanger children, or drain public funds."¹²¹ The state did not seek en banc review or appeal the panel decision to the Supreme Court.¹²²

Applicability of Case Law to UC Drug Testing

Whether a government drug testing program comports with the Fourth Amendment may depend largely on the program's purpose and scope. Supreme Court precedent indicates that drug testing programs, unrelated to criminal law enforcement, that only authorize testing based on an individualized, reasonable suspicion of drug use—such as through direct observation of an individual's drug impairment by trained personnel at a UC application site—are more likely to comport with the Fourth Amendment.¹²³ In the absence of suspicion, the Court has held that governmental drug tests must promote "special needs" compelling enough to outweigh the privacy interests of the individuals subject to the test.¹²⁴ Under current precedent, the Court has only recognized two contexts where "special needs" have justified suspicionless drug tests when balanced against the subjects' competing privacy interests: in cases where individuals were employed in occupations involving public safety concerns; and the public school setting, where the government is responsible for the health and safety of children.¹²⁵

Although not dispositive, Supreme Court case law also suggests that suspicionless drug testing programs imposed on a subset of the population that has a "demonstrated problem of drug abuse" may help tilt the balancing test in the government's favor, especially if the testing program is designed to effectively address the problem.¹²⁶ Moreover, drug testing programs that require results to be kept confidential to all but a small group of nonlaw enforcement officials, are not conducted for criminal law enforcement purposes, and only minimally affect an individual's life

¹²⁰ Id. at 1359.

¹²¹ *Id.* at 1378. The court also held that the state could not alleviate constitutional concerns by "exact[ing]" consent from applicants by conditioning their receipt of TANF benefits on passing drug tests. *Id.*

¹²² Dara Kam, "Scott Drops Welfare Drug Testing Challenge," HEALTH NEWS FLORIDA (Mar. 5, 2015), https://health.wusf.usf.edu/post/scott-drops-welfare-drug-testing-challenge#stream/0.

¹²³ Skinner v. Ry. Labor Exec. Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 624 (1989).

¹²⁴ Chandler v. Miller, 520 U.S. 305, 314 (1997) ("When such 'special needs'—concerns other than crime detection are alleged in justification of a Fourth Amendment intrusion, courts must undertake a context-specific inquiry, examining closely the competing private and public interests advanced by the parties.").

¹²⁵ See generally id. at 314-18. See also Lebron v. Sec'y of Fla. Dep't of Children & Families, 703 F.3d 1202, 1207 (11th Cir. 2014) ("The Court has recognized two concerns that present such 'exceptional circumstances,' which are sufficiently 'substantial' to qualify as special needs meriting an exemption to the Fourth Amendment's warrant and probable cause requirement: the specific risk to public safety by employees engaged in inherently dangerous jobs and the protection of children entrusted to the public school system's care and tutelage.").

¹²⁶ *Chandler*, 520 U.S. at 318-19; Nat'l Treasury Emp. Union v. Von Raab, 489 U.S. 656, 673-75 (1989). The Court's discussion of situations where there is a "demonstrated problem of drug abuse" has arisen in its analysis of drug testing programs directed at particular categories of public employees or officials, or at public school children. *Chandler*, 520 U.S. at 318-19; Von Raab, 489 U.S. at 673-75. Accordingly, the Court's suggestion that a targeted testing program is most likely to withstand Fourth Amendment scrutiny when directed at a group with a "demonstrated problem of drug abuse" could be interpreted in reference to a subset of the populations addressed in those cases (i.e., public employees or school children), rather than a more generalized observation about the government's ability to engage in suspicionless drug testing of a subsection of the general public.

are more likely to be considered reasonable.¹²⁷ On the other hand, programs that allow drug test results to be shared, especially with law enforcement, or that otherwise have the potential to negatively impact multiple or significant aspects of an individual's life, may be less likely to be considered reasonable.¹²⁸

Given this case law, the constitutionality of a UC drug testing program will likely depend on how the program is structured. Additionally, the constitutional analysis might vary as it applies to each of the two categories of UC applicants that states are permitted to test under Section 303 of the Social Security Act—i.e., the "regularly tested occupation" and "previously terminated" categories. Specifically, questions of whether individualized suspicion might justify testing appears potentially relevant to certain "previously terminated" UC applicants.¹²⁹ Additionally, "special needs" analysis could be relevant to UC applicants who fall in DOL's proposed "regularly tested occupation" category.¹³⁰ The remainder of this section addresses these potentially constitutionally significant characteristics of any UC drug testing program, in turn.

Individualized Suspicion and "Previously Terminated" Applicants

The reasons why an individual falls into the "previously terminated" category could be relevant to a reasonable suspicion analysis, but, as discussed below, whether or not there is reasonable suspicion to support testing a particular applicant will likely depend on how the category is defined and the facts and circumstances associated with that applicant's employment termination.

For example, the strength of the evidence tying an individual's termination to illicit drug use might be relevant.¹³¹ If a UC applicant was terminated from his or her previous position because of a criminal drug conviction or because of a failed employer-mandated drug test, there might be more compelling evidence for a reasonable suspicion analysis than if an at-will employee was fired for a number of reasons unrelated to drugs but also, in part, because he or she was rumored to have used illicit drugs outside of work.¹³² If a termination was based on the results of an employer-administered drug test, the relative strength of the test results on a reasonable suspicion analysis might be affected by the reliability of the drug test's results, whether or not the test was conducted pursuant to procedures sufficient to ensure urine or blood samples had not been

¹²⁷ Von Raab, 489 U.S. at 672-73 n.2.

¹²⁸ See *id.*; Ferguson v. City of Charleston, 532 U.S. 67, 85-86 (2001) (ruling that a state hospital's policy, designed to test prenatal patients suspected of drug abuse and to collect evidence with law enforcement that could be used for criminal prosecution, violated the Fourth Amendment's general prohibition on warrantless, suspicionless searches).

¹²⁹ The fact that the "suitable work" for an individual is in a "regularly tested occupation" does not, in and of itself, appear to bear any relevance to individualized suspicion of illicit drug use. For example, reasonable suspicion would not appear to apply to a UC applicant in the "regularly tested occupation" category who had been employed in the same position for 20 years while passing, without fail, both pre-employment and regular, random testing prior to being laid off when his or her company went out of business.

¹³⁰ Not all individuals applying for UC benefits, even if terminated from a prior job for illicit drug use, may have worked in a job sector or otherwise pose a similar public safety threat as those categories of persons whom the Court concluded in *Skinner* and *Von Raab* could be subject to suspicionless drug tests based on the particular safety concerns of the jobs they performed. *See* Skinner v. Ry. Labor Exec. Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 606 (1989) (upholding drug and alcohol testing railroad workers involved in train accidents); *Von Raab*, 489 U.S. at 679 (upholding suspicionless drug testing of U.S. Customs Service personnel who sought transfer or promotion to certain "sensitive" positions—i.e., those that require carrying guns or are associated with drug interdiction).

¹³¹ See generally United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 274 (2002) (noting that, at a minimum, reasonable suspicion requires a "particularized and objective basis," beyond "a mere hunch," that a search would uncover wrongdoing based on "the totality of the circumstances") (internal citations omitted).

¹³² Id.

tampered with, and whether or not those who performed the test were adequately trained.¹³³ A reasonable suspicion analysis might also be affected by the time lapse between the termination and the UC drug test. A court might conclude, for instance, that a UC drug test is less likely to uncover illicit drug use if many months have passed since a UC applicant was fired, than if the termination and test happened within a few days of each other.

Special Needs and the "Regularly Tested Occupation" Group

A special needs analysis could be relevant to mandatory drug testing of UC applicants who fall in the "regularly tested occupation" cohort. The relative strength of a special needs legal defense of such a suspicionless drug testing program would likely depend on how the "regularly tested occupation" group is defined by implementing states. Additionally, there are notable differences between (1) individuals applying for UC benefits while searching for jobs in a "regularly tested occupation" and who are tested for illicit drugs by UC administrators and (2) individuals who are currently performing or in the final stages of being hired to perform safety-sensitive duties and who are drug tested by an employer. As discussed below, whether a reviewing court would consider these distinctions to be constitutionally significant is unclear. The remainder of this section first analyzes potentially relevant factors associated with how states might define the "regularly tested occupation" category, and then assesses the potentially constitutionally relevant distinctions between employer-mandated and UC administrator-mandated drug testing.

In the absence of individualized suspicion, the Supreme Court has cautioned that "where ... public safety is not genuinely in jeopardy, the Fourth Amendment precludes the suspicionless search, no matter how conveniently arranged."¹³⁴ Absent a court recognizing a new category of special needs that may outweigh an individual's privacy interests,¹³⁵ states, at a constitutional minimum, would likely need to define the "regularly tested occupation" group to encompass only occupations that involve matters of public safety in accordance with the Supreme Court special needs precedent.¹³⁶ The "regularly tested occupations" category in DOL's 2019 regulation delineates a number of occupations that appear to be in line with those previously upheld under special needs precedent.¹³⁷ These include an occupation that requires the employee to carry a firearm and an occupation that is subject to drug testing under Federal Railway Administration, Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, Federal Aviation Administration, or Federal Transit Administration regulations.¹³⁸

However, the regulations also do not prohibit states from testing for "[a]n occupation where the State has a factual basis for finding that employers hiring employees in that occupation conduct pre- or post-hire drug testing as a standard eligibility requirement for obtaining or maintaining

¹³³ See generally Nat'l Treasury Emp. Union v. Von Raab, 489 U.S. 656, 672 n.2 (1989) (discussing drug testing "procedures [that] significantly minimize the program's intrusion on privacy interests").

¹³⁴ Chandler v. Miller, 520 U.S. 305, 323 (1997).

¹³⁵ A state that implements a UC drug testing program conceivably could argue for the recognition of a new category of special needs that the Supreme Court has not previously identified in the drug testing context. However, this report focuses on current Supreme Court special needs precedent and, in particular, the *Chandler* Court's guidance that "where … public safety is not genuinely in jeopardy, the Fourth Amendment precludes the suspicionless search, no matter how conveniently arranged." *Chandler*, 520 U.S. at 323.

¹³⁶ Von Raab, 489 U.S. at 679 (drug interdiction and firearm use); Skinner v. Ry. Labor Exec. Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 606 (1989) (railway transportation).

¹³⁷ DOL 2019, Reissued Rule, 84 Fed. Reg. 53,037, 53,052 (to be codified at 20 C.F.R. §620.3).

¹³⁸ Id. (to codified 20 C.F.R. §620.3(a)-(e)).

employment in the occupation."¹³⁹ As described below, it might be possible for an occupation to fall within the latter category but not comport with current Fourth Amendment precedent.

Because the Fourth Amendment's protections against unreasonable searches and seizures only apply to governmental action, drug testing imposed by private employers "not acting as an agent of the Government or with the participation or knowledge of any governmental official"¹⁴⁰ are completely "unguarded by Fourth Amendment constraints."¹⁴¹ Consequently, private employers might regularly impose suspicionless drug tests in some occupations that do not involve safety-sensitive special needs because they are not constrained by the Fourth Amendment. However, Fourth Amendment protections would apply to drug tests imposed on the same individuals to the extent they are mandated by a state as part of a UC program.¹⁴² As a result, state programs that require suspicionless drug tests of UC applicants who are suitably employed in occupations that are regularly subject to drug testing by *private* employers but, nevertheless, are not related to public safety functions in accordance with Supreme Court precedent could potentially run afoul of the Fourth Amendment.¹⁴³

However, even if a state's "regularly tested occupation" drug testing program is limited to individuals whose suitable work is grounded in public safety in line with the Supreme Court's special needs jurisprudence, the program might still raise constitutional concerns. UC beneficiaries, unlike the plaintiffs in *Skinner* and *Von Raab*, are not actively performing or directly being considered for employment to perform duties grounded in public safety by the governmental entity that would be administering drug tests tied to the UC program.¹⁴⁴ To the contrary, these individuals would merely be applying for or receiving unemployment benefits while agreeing not to turn down "suitable work" as defined by state law.¹⁴⁵ A reviewing court might find this distinction constitutionally significant and, consequently, consider a UC drug testing program as more akin to the TANF drug testing programs addressed by the *Marchwinski* and *Lebron* courts than the testing programs upheld in *Skinner* and *Von Raab*. Under this line of reasoning, a reviewing court could conclude that, regardless of how it is structured, the underlying purpose of a UC drug testing program is primarily designed "to promote work … and conserve resources" and, consequently, not sufficiently tied to public safety concerns that would

¹³⁹ Id. (to be codified at 20 C.F.R. §620.3(j)).

¹⁴⁰ United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 113-14 (1984) ("This Court has also consistently construed this protection as proscribing only governmental action; it is wholly inapplicable to a search or seizure, even an unreasonable one, effected by a private individual not acting as an agent of the Government or with the participation or knowledge of any governmental official.") (internal citations omitted).

¹⁴¹ Chandler v. Miller, 520 U.S. 305, 323 (1997) ("And we do not speak to drug testing in the private sector, a domain unguarded by Fourth Amendment constraints.").

¹⁴² See *id*.

¹⁴³ *Id.* (noting that when public safety "is not genuinely in jeopardy, the Fourth Amendment precludes the suspicionless search, no matter how conveniently arranged").

¹⁴⁴ In addition to being arguably unrelated to the performance of safety-sensitive activities, the employment application process, which typically includes in-person interviews, background checks, and potentially employer-funded preemployment drug testing requirements by private employers or by governments for safety-sensitive positions, would seem to provide avenues by which illicit drug use could be detected outside of a UC drug testing program and without raising significant Fourth Amendment concerns.

¹⁴⁵ See generally U.S. Dep't. of Labor, COMPARISON OF STATE UNEMPLOYMENT LAWS 2019, 5-33 (2019). Moreover, the fact that the "suitable work" for some UC beneficiaries is in public safety-related occupations does not guarantee that their next jobs will be in such positions. For instance, a drug tested UC applicant, after weeks of unsuccessfully gaining employment in his or her previous field of occupation, might decide to accept a new job in a completely unrelated field, which has no plausible connection to matters of public safety. This might weaken an argument that a UC drug testing program is designed to promote public safety in accordance with Supreme Court special needs jurisprudence.

warrant a special needs exception to the Fourth Amendment's protection against unreasonable searches.¹⁴⁶

Other Potentially Relevant Factors

Additional factors that a reviewing court might weigh when balancing the government's interest in conducting a drug test and the individual's competing privacy interests include the prevalence of illicit drug use in the cohort of UC applicants who are subject to suspicionless drug testing; how effectively the drug testing program is designed to identify and eliminate illicit drug use; whether procedural safeguards are in place to ensure that sufficiently trained personnel conduct the test, testing samples are protected from contamination, test results are accurate, and the test subject's medical and other personal information are protected; ¹⁴⁷ and the extent to which drug test results are shared beyond the UC program and could negatively affect other aspects of an individual's life.¹⁴⁸ Regarding the latter factor, laws that authorize drug test results to be shared with law enforcement personnel, in particular, might raise heightened Fourth Amendment concerns.¹⁴⁹

Subdelegation of DOL's Authority¹⁵⁰

Section 303(*l*)(1)(A)(ii) of the Social Security Act permits a state to adopt legislation for the drug testing of UC applicants when the only suitable work for such applicants is in occupations that regularly conduct drug testing.¹⁵¹ The section provides that these occupations will be determined "under regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor."¹⁵² DOL's 2019 final regulations identify eight occupations that regularly conduct drug testing, including certain aviation and motor carrier occupations described in existing Federal Aviation Administration and Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration regulations.¹⁵³ In addition, the regulations identify two more occupations with reference to a state's involvement in the determination:

(1) An occupation specifically identified in the State law of that State as requiring an employee to be tested for controlled substances; and

(2) An occupation where the State has a factual basis for finding that employers hiring employees in that occupation conduct pre- or post-hire drug testing as a standard eligibility requirement for obtaining or maintaining employment in the occupation.¹⁵⁴

Because these two additional occupations would seem to be determined by the state, some have contended that DOL is improperly subdelegating the authority it was provided by Section

¹⁴⁶ Lebron v. Sec'y of Fla. Dep't of Children & Families, 772 F.3d 1352, 1378 (11th Cir. 2014).

¹⁴⁷ See *supra* note 95 and surrounding text discussing procedural aspects of the drug testing program upheld by the Supreme Court in *Von Raab*.

¹⁴⁸ See generally *supra* discussion under the "Supreme Court Drug Testing Precedent" and "Lower Court Cases Involving TANF Drug Testing" headings of this report.

¹⁴⁹ See Ferguson v. City of Charleston, 532 U.S. 67, 79 n.15 (2002) ("In other special needs cases, we have tolerated suspension of the Fourth Amendment's warrant or probable-cause requirement in part because there was no law enforcement purpose behind the searches in those cases, and there was little, if any, entanglement with law enforcement.").

¹⁵⁰ This section was authored by Jon O. Shimabukuro, Legislative Attorney, American Law Division, CRS.

¹⁵¹ 42 U.S.C. §503(*l*)(1)(A)(ii).

¹⁵² Id.

¹⁵³ DOL 2019, Reissued Rule, 84 Fed. Reg. 53,037, 53,052 (Oct. 4, 2019) (to be codified at 20 C.F.R. §620.3(a)-(h)). ¹⁵⁴ *Id* (20 C.F.R. §620.3(i), (j)).

303(l)(1)(A)(ii) to the state. Commenting on the 2018 reproposed regulations, the National Employment Law Project maintained:

Congress mandated that occupations that regularly drug test are to be "determined under regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor." In violation of that explicit directive, DOL has issued an NPRM that simply hands that power to the States, and provides little to no guidance concerning how that determination is to be made.¹⁵⁵

When a statute delegates authority to a federal officer or agency, subdelegation to an outside party other than a subordinate federal officer or agency is generally assumed to be improper absent an affirmative showing of congressional authorization.¹⁵⁶ In *U.S. Telecom Association v. Federal Communications Commission*, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit (D.C. Circuit) explained that subdelegations to outside parties are problematic because "lines of accountability may blur, undermining an important democratic check on government decision-making."¹⁵⁷ The D.C. Circuit further observed that subdelegation increases the risk that an outside party may pursue policy goals that are inconsistent with those of the agency and the underlying statute.¹⁵⁸

While subdelegation by a federal agency to an outside party is generally prohibited, courts have permitted some outside party input into an agency's decisionmaking. In *U.S. Telecom*, the D.C. Circuit concluded that outside party input is permissible when it acts as a reasonable condition for granting federal approval, such as the need to obtain a local license or permit; when the outside party is simply providing factual information to a federal agency; and when the outside party is providing advice or policy recommendations to a federal agency that retains final decisionmaking authority.¹⁵⁹

In *Fund for Animals v. Kempthorne*, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit determined that the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) did not improperly subdelegate its authority when it issued an order permitting state fish and wildlife agencies to kill certain migratory birds without a permit to prevent depredations of wildlife and plants.¹⁶⁰ Pursuant to the Migratory Bird Treaty Act, the FWS is authorized to make certain determinations involving migratory birds, including when to allow for their hunting, capture, or killing.¹⁶¹ The plaintiffs in *Fund for Animals*, a group of individuals and environmental organizations, challenged the depredation order, arguing that the killing of the relevant birds could only be authorized by the FWS and not a state fish and wildlife agency.¹⁶²

The Second Circuit contended that the depredation order operated as a "grant of permission" that was conditioned on a state fish and wildlife agency's determination that a depredation would

¹⁵⁵ Nat'l Emp. L. Project, Comment Letter on Proposed Rule to Establish Appropriate Occupations for Drug Testing of Unemployment Compensation Applicants (Dec. 29, 2018), https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=ETA-2018-0004-0177.

¹⁵⁶ U.S. Telecom Ass'n v. Fed. Comms. Comm'n, 359 F.3d 554, 565 (D.C. Cir. 2004), *cert. denied*, 543 U.S. 925 (2004). *See also* Fund for Animals v. Kempthorne, 538 F.3d 124, 132 (2d Cir. 2008) (describing subdelegation to outside parties absent statutory authority as "impermissible").

¹⁵⁷ U.S. Telecom Ass 'n, 359 F.3d at 565.

¹⁵⁸ *Id.* at 566.

¹⁵⁹ Id. at 567-68.

^{160 538} F.3d 124, 126 (2d Cir. 2008).

¹⁶¹ Id. at 127-28 (citing 16 U.S.C. §704).

¹⁶² *Id.* at 132.

occur if action were not taken.¹⁶³ Citing *U.S. Telecom*, the court viewed this kind of determination as permissible outside party input. The court maintained that the depredation order did not represent a delegation of authority, but was an exercise of FWS's permitting authority that incorporated relevant local concerns.¹⁶⁴

In light of *Fund for Animals*, it seems possible to argue that a state's role in identifying "occupations that regularly conduct drug testing" should be viewed like the state fish and wildlife agency's role in making determinations about depredations. One might contend that DOL's 2019 regulations are not a delegation of authority to the states, but instead provide for an incorporation of local concerns to identify the relevant occupations. Like the FWS, DOL would arguably be conditioning the drug testing of unemployment compensation applicants, at least for some individuals, on the state's identification of certain occupations.

Ultimately, a legal challenge of the final regulations seems possible. Opponents of the state's role in identifying "occupations that regularly conduct drug testing" would likely maintain that the regulations provide more than a condition for identifying when the drug testing of UC applicants is appropriate, but are a delegation to an outside party without the explicit authorization of Congress. Proponents might insist, however, that the regulations simply provide the state an opportunity to identify a condition for such drug testing.¹⁶⁵

UC Drug Testing: Administrative Considerations

In order for a state to begin actively drug testing individuals applying for UC benefits under the authority provided by P.L. 112-96 and the newly reissued final DOL rule required by Section 2105, it must consider several policy issues related to designing, financing, and implementing a program. States must establish drug testing programs—and, according to DOL, three states (Mississippi, Texas, and Wisconsin) have already enacted laws to do so. States may also consider the issue of providing and funding drug treatment services for UC claimants.

Establishing a State Drug Testing Program

States that enact laws to drug test UC applicants under the authority provided them by P.L. 112-96 must establish their own drug testing programs. According to DOL guidance, states may enter into a contract with an entity to conduct the drug tests on behalf of the state.¹⁶⁶ When conducting tests for illegal use of controlled substances, the state must use a test that meets or exceeds the standards of the Mandatory Guidelines for Federal Workplace Drug Testing Programs, published by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), or the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) procedures.¹⁶⁷ Tests that do not meet or exceed (i.e., have more rigorous standards for sample collection, chain of custody, and other procedural

¹⁶³ *Id.* at 133.

¹⁶⁴ Id.

¹⁶⁵ See, e.g., Federal-State Unemployment Compensation Program; Establishing Appropriate Occupations for Drug Testing of Unemployment Compensation Applicants Under the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, 83 *Federal Register* 55,311, 55,315 (proposed November 5, 2018) (to be codified at 20 C.F.R. pt. 620).

¹⁶⁶ DOL 2014 Drug Testing UIPL, p. 3. This DOL guidance addresses any potential merit staffing issues related to the states' UC drug testing programs.

¹⁶⁷ The Mandatory Guidelines for Federal Workplace Drug Testing Programs are available at http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2008-11-25/pdf/E8-26726.pdf. Information about DOT standards are available at http://www.dot.gov/odapc/. See DOL 2014 Drug Testing UIPL.

requirements) SAMHSA guidelines or DOT procedures may not be used to determine an individual's eligibility for UC.¹⁶⁸

Funding a State Drug Testing Program

Funding for the additional costs associated with DOL-approved drug testing programs would come from the same state administrative grants that states use to run their UC programs generally; states would be prohibited from requiring UC claimants to pay for any drug testing costs.¹⁶⁹

Administrative costs for state UC programs are financed through the Federal Unemployment Tax Act (FUTA), one of two types of payroll taxes on employers.¹⁷⁰ The 0.6% effective net FUTA tax paid by employers on the first \$7,000 of each employee's earnings (no more than \$42 per worker per year) funds federal and state administrative costs, loans to insolvent state UC accounts, the federal share (50%) of Extended Benefit (EB) payments, and state employment services.¹⁷¹ In FY2018, an estimated \$6.3 billion was collected in federal FUTA taxes, whereas an estimated \$37.1 billion was collected in State Unemployment Tax Acts (SUTA) taxes to finance UC benefits. As discussed above in the section on "Arguments Against Expanded UC Drug Testing," some opponents of expanded UC drug testing are concerned about the adequacy of the existing stream of FUTA revenue for the new administrative function of drug testing UC applicants.

States with New Drug Testing Laws Under P.L. 112-96

According to DOL, three states—Mississippi, Texas, and Wisconsin—have enacted laws under the UC drug testing authority provided by P.L. 112-96.¹⁷² For summary information on these state laws, see **Appendix B**. The implementation of these laws is subject to applicable federal law, including the final DOL rule required by Section 2105 of P.L. 112-96. Thus, in the absence of a final rule and until the issuance of the new rule, the three states had not implemented their programs.

Providing Drug and Alcohol Treatment Services

One of the underlying goals of the UC program is to provide income security after an individual becomes unemployed so that she or he may find suitable work.¹⁷³ At least one state (Wisconsin) has a program addressing the underlying barriers of illicit drug use preventing work-readiness. In this program, if an employer voluntarily reports that a claimant failed a pre-employment drug test (without a valid prescription) and the claimant has not established that she or he had good cause,

¹⁶⁸ DOL 2014 Drug Testing UIPL, pp. 3-4.

¹⁶⁹ DOL 2014 Drug Testing UIPL, p. 4.

¹⁷⁰ The other employer payroll tax is collected under the authority provided by the State Unemployment Tax Acts (SUTA). SUTA revenue is restricted to fund only UC benefits and the state share of the Extended Benefit (EB) program.

¹⁷¹ For an overview of state UC administrative funding, see CRS In Focus IF10838, *Funding the State Administration of Unemployment Compensation (UC) Benefits*.

¹⁷² DOL 2019 State UI Law Comparison, "Nonmonetary Eligibility," pp. 19-21, https://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/pdf/uilawcompar/2019/nonmonetary.pdf.

¹⁷³ William Haber and Merrill G. Murray, "Chapter 2: The Objectives of Unemployment Insurance," in *Unemployment Insurance in the American Economy: An Historical Review and Analysis* (Homewood, IL: Richard D. Irwin, Inc., 1966), p. 34.

the claimant is to be offered the option to attend a drug treatment program and complete a skills assessment. If the claimant agrees to undergo drug treatment and complete a skills assessment, and does so in the required timeframe, the individual may continue to collect UC benefits. The Wisconsin UC program is to furnish the claimant with referrals and instructions in order to complete the assessment and access treatment directly. The claimant must also continue to meet all other UC program requirements. The program includes a budget of \$500,000 to fund and administer a statewide substance abuse program.¹⁷⁴

Funding Drug Treatment Services for UC Claimants

Currently, no funding streams exist within the UC program dedicated to financing drug treatment services. Federal law sets limits on the permissible uses of SUTA funds. Section 3304(a)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) and Section 303(a)(5) of the SSA set out the "withdrawal standard" for how states may use SUTA funds deposited within their state account in the Unemployment Trust Fund (UTF).¹⁷⁵ Neither Section 3304(a) of the IRC nor Section 303(a)(5) of the SSA includes drug treatment services as a permissible use of SUTA funds. Additionally, grants to states for administrative expenses, which are financed by FUTA revenue, are limited under current law. Section 901(c)(1)(A) of the SSA sets out the authorized uses of these FUTA funds, which do not include drug treatment services.

Nothing in federal UC law, however, prohibits states from using funding from non-FUTA or non-SUTA sources to finance drug treatment services for UC claimants. For instance, many states collect additional taxes for administrative purposes, including job training, employment service administration, or technology improvements. According to DOL, in 2019 there were 30 states with additional taxes for administrative purposes. It appears that none of these taxes have been collected for the purposes of funding drug treatment services.¹⁷⁶

¹⁷⁴ State of Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development, *Unemployment Insurance Pre-Employment Drug Testing*, UCB-18332-P (R. 07/2018), July 2018, https://dwd.wisconsin.gov/dwd/publications/ui/ucb_18332_p.pdf. Effective April 1, 2018, Wisconsin state law provides that an employer that submits the results of a positive test or notifies the UC program of an individual's refusal to take a pre-employment drug test is immune from state civil liability for its acts or omissions with respect to the submission of the reported information (Wis. Stat. §108.133(4)(c)).

¹⁷⁵ See, for instance, DOL, UIPL, No. 22-96, "The Immediate Deposit and Withdrawal Standards," May 22, 1996, available at https://wdr.doleta.gov/directives/attach/UIPL22-96.cfm. The withdrawal standard requires that all funds withdrawn from a state account shall be used solely in the payment of UC benefits, exclusive of administrative expenses. Few exceptions exist; these include, for instance, withholding for tax purposes, for child support payments, to repay benefit overpayments or covered unemployment compensation debt, and for Self-Employment Assistance program and Short-Time Compensation program benefits.

¹⁷⁶ See Table 2-16, pp. 28-30 in DOL 2019 State UI Law Comparison. Chapter 2, "Financing," https://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/pdf/uilawcompar/2019/financing.pdf.

Appendix A. Additional Recent Legislative Approaches to UC Drug Testing

In addition to the recent statutory and regulatory developments in UC drug testing related to P.L. 112-96, legislation introduced in recent Congresses has proposed using other approaches to drug test UC applicants and beneficiaries.¹⁷⁷ These approaches have generally either proposed a new federal UC drug testing requirement or some type of risk-assessment tool to guide the drug testing of UC claimants.

New Federal Requirement to Drug Test

One legislative option would be to add a new federal requirement to drug test UC applicants and beneficiaries. This type of approach differs from allowing states to expand UC drug testing (as under P.L. 112-96). There have been some proposals calling for this approach in recent Congresses. For example, H.R. 2001 (112th Congress) would have created a new federal requirement that individuals be deemed ineligible for UC benefits based on previous employment from which they were separated due to an employment-related drug or alcohol offense. This proposal would have required states to amend their state UC laws.

H.R. 1172 (113th Congress) also would have created a new federal requirement that individuals be deemed ineligible for UC benefits based on previous employment from which they were separated due to an employment-related drug or alcohol offense. It would have denied benefits to anyone who (1) was discharged from employment for alcohol or drug use, (2) was in possession of controlled substance at a place of employment, (3) refused the employer's drug test, or (4) tested positive on the employer's drug test for illegal or controlled substances. This proposal would have required states to amend their state UC laws.

Another proposal, the Accountability in Unemployment Act (H.R. 3615 in the 112th Congress, H.R. 1277 in the 113th Congress, and H.R. 1136 in the 114th Congress), would have created a new federal requirement for states to drug test all UC claimants as a condition of benefit eligibility. Under this proposal, if an individual tested positive for certain controlled substances (in the absence of a valid prescription or other authorization under a state's laws), he or she would have been required to retake a drug test after a 30-day period and test negative in order to be eligible for UC benefits. This proposal would have made individuals ineligible for UC benefits for five years after a third positive drug test.

Risk Assessment-Based Drug Testing

Another policy approach toward UC drug testing proposed in recent Congresses involves using a substance abuse risk assessment tool to screen UC applicants and beneficiaries and then drug test those individuals determined likely to be engaged in the unlawful use of controlled substances. In this way, such an approach attempts to avoid suspicionless drug testing. This type of proposal was introduced in the Ensuring Quality in the Unemployment Insurance Program (EQUIP) Act in the 112th Congress (H.R. 3601), 113th Congress (H.R. 3454), 114th Congress (H.R. 2148), 115th

¹⁷⁷ Additionally, Representative Kevin Brady introduced the Ready to Work Act, in the 113th and 114th Congresses. Both of these bills would have affected the implementation of the DOL UC drug testing rule required under P.L. 112-96. H.R. 4310 (113th) would have set a deadline of one year after enactment for DOL to issue this final UC drug testing rule. H.R. 5945 (114th) would have terminated the final UC drug testing rule issued by DOL on August 1, 2016. See the discussion of subsequent developments related to this UC drug testing rule in the section on "Disapproval of 2016 DOL Rule Using Congressional Review Act."

Congress (H.R. 3330), and the 116th Congress (H.R. 1121). The EQUIP Act would have added a new federal requirement that individuals undergo a substance abuse risk assessment for each benefit year as a condition of eligibility for UC in all states. This new federal requirement would also have required individuals deemed to be at high risk for substance abuse—based on the assessment results—to test negative for controlled substances within one week after the assessment to qualify for UC benefits. Under this proposal, the screening assessment tool would have had to have been approved by the director of the National Institutes of Health and been "designed to determine whether an individuals has a high risk of substance abuse."

Appendix B. Enacted State UC Laws Subsequent to P.L. 112-96

According to DOL's 2018 Comparison of State Unemployment Compensation Laws, three states have enacted laws under the authority provided by P.L. 112-96 (with "implementation subject to applicable Federal law"): Mississippi, Texas, and Wisconsin.¹⁷⁸

Mississippi

Section 40 of SB2604, Regular Session 2012 (Chapter 515; signed by Governor on May 1, 2012) added drug testing provisions to state UC eligibility requirements under Mississippi state law. This 2012 Mississippi law

permits drug testing on individuals as a condition of eligibility for benefits if the individual was discharged because of unlawful drug use or if s/he is seeking suitable work only in an occupation that requires drug testing. Individuals may be denied benefits based on the results of these drug tests, but may end the disqualification period early by submitting acceptable proof of a negative drug test from an approved testing facility.¹⁷⁹

Texas

In Texas, SB21 (Chapter 1141, enacted July 14, 2013; effective September 1, 2013) added drug testing provisions to state UC eligibility requirements under state law. This 2013 Texas law

permits drug testing, as a condition of eligibility of benefits, on individuals for whom suitable work is available only in an occupation that regularly conducts pre-employment drug testing.¹⁸⁰

Wisconsin

Section 3115 of 2015 Wisconsin Act 55 (2015 Senate Bill 21, enacted July 12, 2015)¹⁸¹ added drug testing provisions to state UC eligibility requirements under Wisconsin state law. This 2015 Wisconsin law

require[s] the establishment of rules for a drug testing program for controlled substances, including rules identifying occupations for which drug testing is regularly conducted in the State.¹⁸²

¹⁷⁸ DOL 2019 State UI Law Comparison. Chapter 5, "Nonmonetary Eligibility," pp. 19-20, https://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/unemploy/pdf/uilawcompar/2019/nonmonetary.pdf.

¹⁷⁹ MS Code §71-5-513 A(1)(c).

¹⁸⁰ TX Labor Code §207.026.

¹⁸¹ Effective date of July 14, 2015 (i.e., the day after publication date of July 13, 2015), according to Section 9400 of this law.

¹⁸² WI Statutes Chapter §108.133.

Author Contact Information

Katelin P. Isaacs Specialist in Income Security [redacted]@crs.loc.go%-....

Julie M. Whittaker Specialist in Income Security [redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-.... David H. Carpenter Legislative Attorney [redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

Jon O. Shimabukuro Legislative Attorney [redacted]@crs.loc.gov , 7-....

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.